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DISORGANIZATION OF THE REPUBLICAN PARTY.—ATTITUDE OF MONK IN
SCOTLAND.—ROYALIST INTRIGUES AROUND HIM.—HJ8 TWO CHAP-
LAINS.—BOOTH'S INSURRECTION NEARLY CAUSES HIM TO DECIDE FOR
THE KING.—BEASONS WHICH LED HIM TO POSTPONE HI8 DECISION.
—HIS TEMPORARY DISCOUBAGEMENT.,—EXPULSION OF THE PARUIA-
MENT BY LAMBERT: MONK SIDES WITH THE CIVIL AUTHORITY.—
HIS ACTIVITY AND DISSIMULATION.—EFFECT PRODUCED BY HIS DE-
CLARATION IN LONDON.—ATTEMPTS AT RECONCILIATION FRUSTRATED
BY MONK.~—~SIMULTANEOUS NEGOTIATIONS OF THE ROYALISTS WITH
MONK, LAMBERT, AND FLEETWOOD.—— JUNCTION OF THE PARIIA-
MENTARY PARTY WITH MONK.— ALAEM OF THE ARMY - PARTY IN
LONDON.——~WHITELOOKE'S PROPOSITION TO FLEETWOOD.—THE ARMY
ITSELF RECALLS THE LONG PARLIAMENT.—~MONK ENTERS ENGLAND.

; ~—HIS MARCH FROM COLDSTREAM TO LONDON.—HE IS MET BY TWO
ENVOYS FROM THE PARLIAMENT.—HIS ENTRY INTO LONDON.

WreN violence and irresolution, discord and weariness

manifest themselves simultaneously in the acts of political

parties, the downfall of those parties is certain and near

at hand. The Commonwealth had now reached this fatal

point in its history. Hateful to the country in general, it
VOL. 11, B



2 RICHARD CROMWELL AND

was supported only by the mutilated Parliament and by
the army : and these two powers were engaged in deadly
warfare with each other. But at the very moment when
they were entering upon this conflict, they were a prey
to hesitation and uncertainty; both were divided into
wavering cliques, on whose support it was impossible for
either to rely, and which, with a strange combination of
obstinacy and vacillation, while they were bent on injur-
ing one another, never ceased, from a secret consciousness
of equal weakness and exposure to the same danger, to
treat each other with mutual consideration. In the army,
Lambert, who was still jealous of the greatness of the
dead Cromwell, served as a rallying-point for the purely
military party, composed of officers, subalterns, and sol-
diers, who were accustomed to be the masters, and were
ready to do anything to maintain their dominion, as the
only safeguard of the form of government which they
persisted in calling the Commonwealth. Fleetwood, who
had the title of General-in-chief, feared Lambert not only
as an ambitious rival, but as a dangerous ally, and sought
for support against him in every quarter, even among the
ranks of their common enemies. In every corps, and in
all grades, of the army, the expelled Parliament possessed
faithful adherents in the persons of those sincere Repub-
licans, who regarded the government elected by the people
as the representative of the good old cause, deplored the
excesses of their companions in arms, and remained in
secret communication with the Parliamentary leaders,
and particularly with Haslerig, the most active of them
all, in the hope of being able to effect a reconciliation.
Other officers, gifted with greater foresight (as for in-
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stance, Colonel Morley, who had given such striking
proof of his fidelity to the Parliament up to the very last
moment), were beginning to despair of its restoration, as
well as of the success of the army ; and determined nei-
ther to betray their old masters, nor to remain involved
m their fate, they were daily and noiselessly clearing
themselves of their old hostility to the King. Nor was
the Parliament, in its defeat, less uneasy or more united
than the army, in the plenitude of its power. While
Haslerig and Scott were persistently asserting the rights
of the Parliament, Vane and Whitelocke were forming a
close alliance with the army: Vane hoping to effect, with
the help of the zealous enthusiasm of the sectarian sol-
diers, those radical reforms which, in his eyes, could
alone save the State; and Whitelocke aiming, on the
contrary, with the assistance of the leaders, to prevent
the adoption of those extreme measures. Both were
actuated, in reality, by the terror with which they re-
garded the prospect of the Restoration of Charles II.; and
yet, in view of this contingency, many of their most inti-
mate friends, including William Lenthall, the Speaker of
the House of Commons, were already preparing to offer
the King their unqualified submission, and in many cases
even their active assistance. The dissolution of the Re-
publican party, both civil and military, was visibly pro-
gressing ; and it was watched with anxious joy by the
Royalists, who, though still conquered and motionless,
were full of ardour and hope.’

Far from this scene of anarchy and enervation, one
alone of the leaders of the army and of the country,

! Bordeaux to Mazarin, Oetober 80, 1659. See APPENDIX.
B2

*
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George Monk, confining his attention to the government
of Scotland, remained a complete stranger to these in-
trigues. Not that he was inattentive to the progress of
affairs in England, or unwilling, under any circumstances,
to take part in them. Even if such had been his wish,
the party leaders in London, both military and civil,
would not have left him at liberty to follow the bent of
his inclination. They were themselves constantly on the
watch to ascertain what Monk was doing, or planning,
or thinking: and each in turn took pains to maintain
friendly relations with him, either in order to secure his
support or to discover his designs. Fleetwood, with the
restlessness of a feeble and undecided mind, wrote to
him two or three times a week, eager to inform him of
events as they occurred, to explain to him his own con-
duct, and to prejudice him against his adversaries or
rivals. Lambert, though more bold, nevertheless took
frequent occasion to express to Monk the esteem and
confidence with which he regarded him as an old com-
panion in arms. Haslerig neglected no opportunity of
laying himn under obligation, and boasted that he could
reckon on him as a friend both to himself and to the
Parliament. Scott had obtained the appointment of
chaplain to the Council of State in Scotland for Dr.
Gumble, who had formerly been a Presbyterian vicar in
the small town which he represented in Parliament ; and
Gumble, who had thus become one of Monk’s chaplains,
kept up a constant correspondence with his first patron.
Thus courted and flattered by the leaders of the most
opposite parties, and enabled to ascertain without parti-
cipating in their movements, Monk welcomed all infor-
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mation, repelled no advances, appeared favourable while
remaining taciturn, and allowed all to hope for his sup-
port without promising it to any one in particular. He
had no fixed principles, no strong passions, no great poli-
tical ambition; but he was a serious and sensible man,
and he was determined to support that power only which,
by its vigour and ability, should appear to him to be equal
to its task, and shonld inspire him with some confidence
in its stability. The Long Parliament, as the conqueror
of royalty, and Cromwell, as the conqueror of the Long
Parliament, had been, in his eyes, masters who were
capable of holding the reins of government, and whom it
would be safe to serve; and he had served them both in
turn, unscrupulously and faithfully, though neither unre-
servedly nor devotedly. After the death of Cromwell, he
had no confidence in the merit or in the fortune of any
one of the men or parties who contended for his inherit-
ance; and he watched their vain struggles with prudent
and disdainful indifference, waiting until some better
chances of security and success should present them-
selves, both for his country and for himself.!

In his inmost heart, Monk was a Royalist, from respect
to the ancient order of things, from aversion to anarchy
and revolutionary vicissitudes, from a just appreciation of
the feeling of the country and of future probabilities, and
also, in spite of his long disloyalty, from some surviving
spark of family spirit (as nearly all the gentlemen of
Devonshire, his relatives and friends, were Cavaliers), and
from the recollection that he had first borne arms in the

1 Ludlow's Memoirs, p. 272; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 98-100;
Skinner's Life of Monk, p. 121.

»
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service of the King. Among those who immediately
surrounded him, in his household, the same feeling pre-
vailed. His wife, a woman of low origin and wvulgar
manners, who had been his mistress for some years
before he married her, often spoke recklessly in favour of
the King, probably because she thought an affectation
of aristocratic tastes might cause her own shortcomings
to be forgotten. His chaplain-in-ordinary, John Price,
though very reserved in public, was an avowed Cavalier
in the intimacy of family intercourse. When the General
requested him to endeavour to put a stop to the indiscreet
speeches of his wife,—* Sir, what shall I say?” replied
the chaplain; “she speaks such unhappy truths that
neither you nor I can gainsay them.” ¢ True, Mr. Price,”
returned Monk, “but I have learned a proverb that he
who follows truth too close upon the heels, will, one time
or other, have his brains kicked out.” Monk himself
however sometimes forgot his usual reserve; he compla-
cently allowed popular predictions to be circulated, which
pointed him out as the future restorer of the monarchy;
and whcn the old Earl of Nithsdale came to him one day
- to announce to himn that this glorious work would be ac-
complished without even a finger being cut in the affair,
“In that case,” replied Monk, “ 1 am assured of my share
init.” His reputation for bravery was so well established
that he was not ashamed to boast of his prudence.!

Well aware of this state of feeling, and only too ready
to exaggerate its operation, the Royalists laboured inces-
santly to persuade Monk to adopt their cause; at one
time, they sought for means of acting upon him within

! Price’s Memoirs, p. 14; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 118-128.
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the circle of his intimate acquaintance; at another time,
they urged the King and Hyde to make those advances
to him, which were necessary to decide his conduct.
Hyde exhibited considerable distrust: he had no ac-
quaintance with Monk, and felt but little esteem for his
character. Charles sent full powers to three of his council
in England, Lord Bellasis, Lord Faulconbridge, and Sir
John Greenville, in these terms: “I am confident that
George Monk can have no malice in his heart against
me, nor hath he done anything against me which I can-
not very easily pardon ; and it is in his power to do me
so great service that I cannot easily reward, but I will
do all I can, and I do authorize you, and either of you,
with the advice of the rest, to treat with him, and not
only to assure him of my kindness, but that I will very
liberally reward him with such an estate in land, and
such a title of honour as himself shall desire, if he will
declare for me and adhere to my interest; and whatever
you shall promise to him on my behalf, or whatever he,
or you by his advice, shall promise to any of his officers
or the army under his command, which command he
shall still keep, I will make good and perform, upon the
word of a King.” There is nothing to indicate the pre-
cise use made of this power by Lord Faulconbridge and
his friends, on their receiving it; but at every step, we
find traces of messages sent and overtures made to
Monk, in the name either of the King or of the Royalists,
whether old Cavaliers or converted Presbyterians, who
were all alike persuaded that he was able, and not very
far from willing, to restore the monarchy. Always
equally taciturn to all who thus addressed him, Monk
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gave no answer; but he allowed the messengers to come
to him, state their object, and go away again unmolested.
Only, whenever any one ventured to press him too
closely, he resumed his official character in a few decisive
words. A short time before Sir George Booth’s insur-
rection, Colonel Jonathan Atkins, a Cavalier who had
formerly been his companion in arms, came expressly to
inform him of the proposed rising, and to request him,
on behalf of the gentlemen who were engaged in it,
either to lend them his assistance, or at least to take no
part against them. ¢If they take up arms,” replied
Monk bluntly, “1 shall send a force against them: by
the duty of my place, I can do no less.”!

He was soon called upon to deliberate on proposals of
a more serious character. The great plot which had been
laid in order to secure a general rising of the Royalists,
had not yet failed ; the insurrection of Sir George Booth
in Cheshire was soon to break out. Charles and his ad-
visers deemed that the time had come for taking decisive
measures to ascertain the views of Monk, whose accession
to their cause would determine its success. Both the in-
strument and the opportunity presented themselves na-
turally. Sir_ John Greenville, foreseeing the advantage
he might one day derive from it, had given a benefice
which he possessed in Cornwall, to Nicholas Monk, a
younger brother of the General, a poor clergyman, de-
voted to the royal cause and to the service of his patron.
Nicholas Monk had lately sent his daughter Mary to
spend some time in Scotland with her uncle, and was

! Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 417; Price’s Memoirs, p. 6;
Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 292.
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now about to fetch her home again on account of an
offer of marriage which had been made to her, regard-
ing which he wished to consult his brother. Greenville
wrote at once to Hyde to inquire whether the King, at
so urgent a crisis, would not avail himself of a messenger
so far above suspicion, in order to convey his requests
and promises in safety to Monk. Charles immediately
despatched two letters to London; one to Greenville,
in which he solemnly confirmed the full powers he had
already given him in this matter, and the other addressed
to Monk himself, in the following terms : ““ I cannot think
you wish me ill, nor have you reason to do so; and the
good T expect from you will bring so great a benefit to
your country and to yourself, that I cannot think you
will decline my interest. The person who gives or sends
this to you, has authority to say much more to you from
me : and if you once resolve to take my interest to heart,
I will leave the way and manner of declaring it entirely
to your judgment, and will comply with the advice you
shall give me. It is in your power to make me as kind
to you as you can desire, and to have me always, your
affectionate friend, C. R.”?

As soon as he had received these letters, Greenville
summoned Nicholas Monk to London, and informed him
of the mission which he wished him to undertake. The
honest clergyman consented without a moment’s hesita-
tion. Alarmed however at the idea of carrying the
King’s own letter about his person, he requested permis-

1 Baker’s Chronicle, p. 707 ; Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 543 ;
Clarendon's History of the Rebellion, vol. vii. p. 383 ; Price’s Memoirs,
Pp- 4-8; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 103-105; Skinner's Life of
Monk, pp. 87-96.
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sion to leave it in London, after having committed it to
memory, as he was sure he would be able to repeat it
word for word to his brother. To this Greenville agreed.
Nicholas Monk then made arrangements for his journey
with Thomas Clarges, who was still the General’s confi-
dential agent ; and, embarking at London on the 5th of
August, 1659, he arrived a few days after at Dalkeith,
Monk’s head-quarters, at the very moment when the
Parliament, greatly alarmed by Booth’s insurrection,
which had just broken out, was taking the severest mea-
sures against the Royalists, and sending out a strong body
of troops, under the command of Lambert, to combat the
insurgents.

Monk did not see his brother in private until late at
night, and after he had, according to his custom, spent
the day in transacting business and conversing with his
officers. What passed between the two brothers, at their
first interview, is nowhere reported. 'We only know that
Nicholas Monk, immediately on his arrival, either in a
burst of confidence, or in pursuance of his instructions,
informed Chaplain Price of the object of his journey;
that Price, in his turn, made him acquainted with the
feelings of the General, his wife, and his officers, and gave
him much useful advice as to the language and behaviour
he must employ in order to succeed in his mission; and
that the presence of this new visitor excited, among the
staff of the General, an amount of curiosity which Price
had some difficulty in evading or deceiving. For some
days, Monk neither did nor said anything to indicate that

! Price’s Memoirs, p. 6; Gumble’s Life of Monk, p. 104; Skinner’s
Life of Monk, p. 96; Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 543.



THE DAWN OF THE RESTORATION. 11

he had adopted any resolution or decided on any plan.
But on Saturday, the 23rd of August, Chaplain Gumble
arrived from Edinburgh, and had a long conference with
the General, at the conclusion of which he went into
Price’s study, where the good man was preparing his
sermon for the following day. * Lay aside all thought
of preaching for to-morrow,” said he to Price; “I will
undertake it for you : you are transformed into a Secre-
tary of State ;”’ and, on behalf of the General, he directed
Price to prepare a letter addressed to the Parliament, in
the name of the Scottish army and its leader, to complain
of the perpetual power which it seemed desirous of secur-
ing to itself; to require it, in the first place, to complete
its own numbers, and then to make arrangements for the
election of future Parliaments, as a necessary condition of
republican government; and to declare their determina-
tion to support their demands by force, if they could not
otherwise obtain the satisfaction which they sought. “I
am not fully satisfied,” said Gumble to Price, ““of the
grounds of the General’s engagement, now after his bro-
ther is come ; he might have done it sooner.” But Price
hastened to re-assure him by declaring that Nicholas
Monk’s journey had reference merely to the marriage of
his daughter with one of their kinsmen; and Gumble
made no further objections.!

On the following day, after Divine service, which
Gumble terminated with a prayer that God would bless
the General’s good intentions, Monk, accompanied by his
brother, his Adjutant Smith, and Gumble himself, pro-

! Gumble’s Life of Monk, p. 104 ; Price’s Memoirs, pp. 21, 22 ; Skin-
ner’s Life of Monk, pp. 96-100.



12 RICHARD CROMWELL AND

ceeded to the apartment of Price, who, opening a Bible
before him, called on him to swear “that he would not
reveal anything that should be discoursed of by them, or
read to him, without the consent of all there present.”
Monk laid his hand on the sacred volume, and took the
required oath ; the others did the same, and Price then
read his draft of a Declaration to the Parliament. This
document was discussed, modified, and instantly com-
mented upon by the most significant acts, for Monk or-
dered his Adjutant Smith to take horse immediately, pro-
ceed to Edinburgh and Leith, and secure the citadels of
those two towns, where he would find officers who would
give him every assistance in accomplishing his mission.
These arrangements concluded, Monk left the room, and
returned to his own apartment, “having,” says Price,
“ other and more secret designs to fetch, in assistance to
this new enterprise.” It was now nearly night; Smith,
after some little conversation with the three clergymen,
was rising to take his departure, in obedience to the or-
ders he had received, when Monk re-entered the room
and detained him. “It will be no great prejudice to our
business,” he said, “if we wait for the information of the
next post; for Lambert is marched towards Booth, and
by this time is ready to face him; and then we shall
know whether Booth hath this force with him that it is
said he hath, and what likelihood there is of the action,
by any farther assistance.” Upon this, the others took
their leave; but Price, full of anxiety and impatience,
ventured, later in the evening, to go down to the General
and request an interview with him. He found him in
close conversation with a Scottish gentleman, who had
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formerly been a companion in arms of Montrose, and
whose skill in all field-sports had now gained him the
General's friendship. Monk advanced to meet his chap-
lain, who drew him aside, and represented to him the
urgency of the crisis, and the danger of delay, *for,”
said he, ““ your brother only came to us at the latest.”
Monk frowned, and, laying his hand on Price’s shoulder,
said, in a low voice and with some symptoms of anger:
“ What, Mr. Price, will you then bring my neck to the
block for the King, and ruin our whole design by en-
gaging too rashly?”’ “Sir,” replied Price, #I never
named the King to you, either now or at any other
time.” “ Well,” returned Monk, ““I know you have not,
but I know you, and have understood your meaning;”
and he dismissed the chaplain, still feeling somewhat re-
gretful of the delay, but with his mind at ease as to the
intentions of his General.!

The next morning, the post brought the news of
Booth’s defeat by Lambert, and of the total failure of the
Royalist insurrection. Towards noon, a great number
of officers, mostly zealous Republicans, Anabaptists, or
Quakers, came to dine with the General, and loudly ex-
pressed their joy at the intelligence they had received.
At dinner, the conversation turned principally on the
same topic: ‘‘the mercy was not ordinary,” they said,
“for the greatest part of the gentry of England were en-
gaged in the conspiracy, and our old friends the Presby-
terians were more forward in the action than our old
enemies the Cavaliers; it was apparent that Booth and
his confederates intended to have brough{ in Charles

! Price’s Memoirs, pp. 22-27.
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Stuart.” “I could wish,” said Monk, “ that the Parlia-
ment would make a law that whoever should but men-
tion the restoring of him, should presently be hanged.”
The conversation grew still more animated ; from Charles
Stuart, it diverged to religious questions; the hatred of
the Sectaries to the Anglican Church, and to every per-
manent and legal ecclesiastical establishment, was ex-
pressed in unmeasured terms. “ There can never be a
quiet and lasting settlement in these nations,” said Cap-
tain Poole, “ so long as there is a parish priest or steeple-
house left.” At this sally Monk rose indignantly, and
either because his patience was exhausted, or because he
thought it fitting to put a stop to further extravagances
of language: * Fair and softly, Captain Poole,” said he,
“if you and your party once come to pluck there, I will
pluck with you.” His anger was rarely exhibited, and
his authority was greatly respected ; the officers withdrew
in silence. 'When Monk found himself alone with his
confederates of the previous evening, they congratulated
each other on his prudence; it had saved them from a
tremendous danger. “ What would you have done,
General,” Price asked him, “ had the tidings of Lam-
bert’s beating of Booth surprised us in the very first
appearance of our design?”’ “I doubt not,” replied
Monk, “but I could have secured to myself the castle
of Edinburgh and citadel of Leith; some officers and
many soldiers would have followed me; and then I
would have commissioned the whole Scottish nation to
rise.””!

1 Price’s Meoirs, pp. 28-30; Baker's Chronicle, pp. 709, 710;
Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 99-104.
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The answer was as judicious as it was bold: Monk
could safely rely on the support of the greater number of
his soldiers, who felt that full confidence in him which is
inspired by long-tried superiority and constant success.
Some time before, on the accession of Richard Cromwell
to the Protectorate, they had manifested greater ambition
for their General than he had felt for himself. *Old
George for our money,” they said; “he is fitter for a
Protector than Dick Cromwell.” And more recently
still, when conversing about the troubles of England, in
the intervals of leisure which their garrison duties allowed
them, they had asked, “ Why will not old George do
something? we can march safely behind him.” Monk
was well aware of the prevalence of this feeling among
his troops, and took pains to encourage it, as his surest
source of strength; but he also knew that the goodwill
of the masses is useful only when it is called into action
at the right moment and under favourable circumstances.
IIe was impressed by the danger he had just escaped;
he had reckoned on greater extensiveness and persistence
in the Royalist insurrection in England; the Presbyte-
rians, who were its chief promoters, were, in his opinion,
the most powerful and perhaps the most national party
in the country; he had reason to believe that Fairfax,
who possessed great influence in Yorkshire, regarded the
movement with approbation, and was preparing to take
up arms in its support. And yet the whole scheme had
been destroyed, in a few hours, and almost without an
effort. 'What a lesson of prudence for the cautious Ge-
neral! What a confirmation of his propensity to distrust
party vaunts, popular enthusiasm, and revolutionary oscil-
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lations! He resolved to remain perfectly quiet. His bro-
ther Nicholas had not been either as discreet or as adroit
as the occasion required ; Monk roughly chid him, ad-
vising him to devote himself in future to his parish and
his studies, and never again to meddle with public affairs,
and bade him give the same advice to his cousin Green-
ville; then, enjoining him to observe the strictest secrecy
with regard to all that had passed between them, he
went so far as to tell his brother with some passion, “ that
if ever this business were discovered by him, or by Sir
John Greenville, he would do the best he could to ruin
them both.”’!

Nor did he remain satisfied with these precautions;
either from discouragement, or deep calculation, he wrote
to Lenthall, the Speaker of the Parliament, to tender his
resignation of his command. “He was aged and infirm,”
he said, ““ and his great desire was to rctire to live upon
his own inheritance, which he had scarce had time to see
since he was a child.” That it was his serious intention
at this time to withdraw from public life is rendered pro-
bable by the fact that he did not send his letter, according
to his usual practice, to his brother-in-law Clarges, whose
opposition he anticipated; but Clarges received timely
notice of his intention, doubtless from one of Monk’s inti-
mate confidants, and sent in his turn to inform Lenthall of
the contents of the letter he was soon to receive. Lenthall,
anxious to prevent the retirement of Monk, whose future
destiny he foresaw, kept the letter in his own custody for
several days, without communicating it to the Parliament.

! Gumble's Life of Monk, pp. 95, 105; Price’s Memoirs, p. 34;
Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 103-110; Guizot’s Monk, pp. 61-76.
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In vain did some zealous Republicans, and particularly
Vane and Salloway, who would have delighted to get
rid of Monk, and had some inkling of his intention to
quit the service, inquire whether news had been received
from him ; Lenthall avoided giving a direct answer ; and
soon afterwards, Monk, recovering from his depression,
and pleased by the anxiety which the mere idea of his
retirement had occasioned to his partisans, authorized
Clarges to withdraw his letter, and nothing more was
heard of it.!

If his despondency had been sincere, Monk soon per
ceived that he had given way to discouragement without
any sufficient cause. The news which he received from
London placed it beyond doubt that the Parliament, de-
livered from Booth and the Royalists by Lambert’s vic-
tory, would soon find another rival, and perhaps another
conqueror, in Lambert himself. On learning that Lam-
bert and his officers were preparing to address a Humble
Representation to Parliament, setting forth their griev-
ances, Monk openly expressed his disapprobation of the
proceeding, forbade his army to take part in it, and
wrote to assure the Parliament of his continued fidelity.
His letter was received with lively satisfaction, and White-
locke was directed to draw up an official vote of thanks
to him. Meanwhile, the quarrel between the Parliament
and the army in England rapidly increased in violence.
“T see now,” said Monk one day to Price, * that I shall
have a better game to play than I had before; I know
Lambert so well that I am sure he will not let those peo-
ple at Westminster sit till Christmas-day :” and he sent

! Baker's Chronicle, p. 710 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk, p. 110.
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his brother Nicholas to London with instructions, on the
one hand, to renew to the Parliament the assurance that,
if it would maintain its own authority, it might count on
the support of the Scottish army, and on the other hand,
to declare to Sir John Greenville that he brought no
answer from the General to the King’s letter, and that
Monk was so much affected by the defeat of Booth that
he had enjoined him to observe the strictest silence re-
specting the whole affair.!

Scarcely a week had elapsed since Nicholas Monk had
returned to London, and executed this double commis-
sion, when a message from Clarges arrived at Dalkeith,
on the 17th of October, 1659, with the important news
that Lambert had expelled the Parliament, and that, on
the evening before its expulsion, the Parliament had dis-
missed Lambert from all his employments, and appointed
Monk one of the seven commissioners charged with the
government of the army. Before noon, Monk had as-
sembled his principal officers together, communicated to
them his resolution to support the Parliament, sent off
his Adjutant Smith to Edinburgh and Leith, and two
other officers to St. Johnston and Ayr (of which impor-
tant places he was anxious to make sure), and given
orders that no post should go out to London that even-
ing, as he was desirous to act before anything was said
about his intentions. On the following day, at the head
of his guards, he proceeded in person to Edinburgh, where

! Commons’ Journals, vol: vii. p. 792 ; Whitelocke’s Memorials, P-
684; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 713; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 296; Price’s
Memoirs, p. 37; Skinner’s Life of Monk, p. 112; Gumble’s Life of

Monk, p. 113; Bordeaux to Mazarin, November 3, 1659. See Ap-
PENDIX.
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two regiments of infantry were in garrison; he imme-
diately cashiered those officers whom he distrusted, and
having paraded the troops, briefly addressed them: “The
army in England,” he said, “ have broken up the Parlia-
ment, out of a restless and ambitious humour to govern
all themselves, and to hinder the settlement of the na-
tion. Their next practice will be to impose their insolent
extravagances upon the army in Scotland, which is nei-
ther inferior nor subordinate to them. For my own part,
I think myself obliged, by the duty of my place, to keep
the military power*in obedience to the civil ; and since
you have received your pay and commission from the
Parliament, it is your duty to defend it. In this, I ex-
pect the ready obedience of you all; but if any declarc
their dissent to my resolution, they shall have liberty to
leave the service, and may take passes to be gone.” This
firm and straightforward speech was received with ac-
clamations by the soldiers, and Monk returned to his
head-quarters to take measures for securing the execu-
tion of the design which he had so boldly announced.!
His good sense and practical experience had taught
him that, in order to exert a powerful influence over men, -
whether friends or enemies, it is necessary to act in the
name of some acknowledged right, some undisputed
principle, which may serve as a starting-point and stan-
dard in action. He had now found, or to speak more
correctly, events had supplied him with the support so
necessary to his first steps in the difficult course on which
he had entered. That the military power ought to be
! Price’s Memoirs, p. 44; Baker's Chronicle, pp. 721, 722; Gum-

ble’s Life of Monk, pp. 133-135 ; Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 117-119.
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subject to the civil government was a maxim to which
he might boldly appeal without fear of contradiction : and
to this principle he adhered imperturbably in all cases,
both in attacking his adversaries, and in defending him-
self against his own instruments-and allies. As soon as
his resolution was taken, he directed a small committee
of superior officers, who had now become his habitual
advisers, to prepare in the first place a general declara-
tion to the effect that * they had taken arms only to de-
fend the freedom and privileges of Parliaments, and to
vindicate the rights and liberties of the people against
all opposition whatsoever ;” and also to write letters, in
the name of the officers of his army as well as in his own
name, to the officers of the army in England, in which
he called on them to return to the principles which they
had violated, pointed out to them the errors of which they
had been guilty, and implored them earnestly not to per-
severe in their present course, assuring them that the
consequences of their obstinacy would be most disastrous
to themselves and their country. At the same time he
wrote himse!f to Fleetwood, Lambert, and Lenthall ;! to
" the two former, he declared his firm intention to restore
the Parliament to the full possession of its rights, while
he assured the last that the Parliament might reckon upon
his support. And that he might lose no time in secur-
ing adherents in every quarter to the cause he had em-
braced, he also wrote to the Generals of the army in Ire-
land, to the commanders of the fleet, to the governors of
the principal places in England, and even to some private
individuals (Ludlow among others) whose influence he
! On the 20th of October, 1659.



THE DAWN OF THE RESTORATION. 21

knew to be great, in order to inform them of his pur-
pose and obtain their co-operation.’

Though similar in substance, these letters were very
different in tone, and were most skilfully adapted to the
position or character of the persons to whom they were
addressed. To Lambert, Monk wrote imperiously, and
almost as if he were a rebel : “ Having noticed,” he said,
“that a part of the army under the Parliament’s com-
mand have, contrary to their duty, put force upon them,
I have sent this messenger to your Lordship to entreat
you to be an instrument of peace and good understand-
ing between Parliament and army; for, if they shall
continue this force, I am resolved, with the assistance of
God and that part of the army under my commaad, to
stand by them and assert their lawful authority. For
the nation of England will not endure any arbitrary
power, neither will any true Englishman in the army;
therefore I do earnestly entreat you (that we may not be
a scorn to all the world and a prey to our enemies), that
the Parliament may be speedily restored to their free-
dom, which they enjoyed on the 11th of this instant.
Which is all at present from your Lordship’s humble ser-
vant, George Monk.” Towards Fleetwood, on the other
hand, his language was more gentle and friendly. “«I
hope your Lordship,” he wrote, “ will not abet an action
of such a dangerous and destructive consequence. I
know that you love the liberty and peace of England so
well that you will use your best care that attempts of

! Monk’s Letters, pp. 9-29; Baker's Chronicle, p. 724; Gumble’s
Life of Monk, pp. 134, 185; Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 125-127 ;
Price’s Memoirs, pp. 48, 49 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 303.
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this nature be suppressed.” And in his letter to Lent-
hall, after having promised to give the Parliament his
strongest support, Monk added: “ I do call God to wit-
ness that the asserting of a Commonwealth is the only
intent of my heart; and I desire, if possible, to avoid
the shedding of blood. But if the army will not obey
your commands, I will not desert you, according to my
duty and promise.”

Having published his declaration, despatched his let-
ters, and thereby clearly taken up his position in view of
the whole country, Monk again directed his attention to
the state of affairs immediately aronnd him. Here also,
prompt action was necessary; in his government, in his
army, and in his household, he had to contend with hos-
tile distrust, and to repress premature enthusiasm. The
Royalists hastened to offer their services and to proclaim
their hopes ; the Republicans took the alarm, and de-
clared themselves more than ever determined not to suf-
fer the restoration of Charles Stuart. The latter were
numerous among the officers in Monk’s army, and the
greater part of the cavalry entertained the same views ;
among the infantry alone, political indifference and trust-
ful obedience prevailed. Without threat or clamour,
Monk took effectual measures to avert these internal
dangers ; more than a hundred and forty officers were
successively cashiered, and their places supplied by pro-
motions from the ranks, which substituted reliable and
grateful men in their stead. Monk also sent on distant
service those regiments of which he was doubtful, and
surrounded himself by those on whose fidelity he could

! Monk’s Letters, pp. 14, 18, 19.
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reckon with confidence. With singular economy and
prudence, he had saved a large sum from the revenue of
his office, and had seventy thousand pounds in cash at
his disposal. He accordingly promised payment of their
arrears to the officers whom he dismissed, and thus kept
them in dependence upon him even after they had left
the service. He took the most constant care to keep up
a healthier moral feeling among his troops; intelligent
non-commissioned officers were employed, in the various
meetings of the soldiers, to point out the justice and
necessity of the course which the army and its General
were pursuing; and little pamphlets were printed, in
the form of dialogues between a soldier of the Scottish
army and a soldier of the army in England, in which it
was shown that every good Englishman was bound, in
conscience, to resist the tyranny of Lambert. A few
officers, of acknowledged talent, were appointed to write
a weekly gazette which was circulated among the troops,
and read by them with the utmost avidity. Capable of
understanding and directing simultaneously the most op-
posite springs of action, Monk, while preaching submis-
sion to his army, strove diligently to excite the personal
enthusiasm and intelligent zeal of his soldiers.!

His relations with the Royalists were of a much simpler
character ; far from attempling to humour them in order
to make them his instruments, he absolutely refused all
dealings with them, feeling sure that, under any circum-
stances, they would continue to hope, and that, when the

! Gumble'’s Life of Monk, pp. 189-142 ; Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp.
123-126 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 50 ; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 721 ; White-
locke’s Memorials, p. 686.
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proper moment arrived, their assistance would not be
wanting to the execution of his plans. His behaviour
towards his two chaplains was a symbol of his attitude
towards the two parties; on all occasions and for all
purposes, for speaking, writing and conveying messages,
he employed the Presbyterian Gumble; while to the
Royalist Price he said: “I shall not employ you in any
part of my business, and be not discontented at it, for
you know not these people so well as I do, and cannot
dissemble with them.” Gumble was proud of his im-
portance ; and Price did not complain of his inactivity.!

On the 28th of October, Monk’s letters arrived in
London, where rumours of the resolution which they an-
nounced had already gained currency, and occasioned
the greatest disquietude. Ever since it had expelled the
Parliament, the army had been striving to constitute a
government. Under the name of the Committee of Safety,
twenty-threc persons, designated by the general council
of officers,® had been invested with all the powers of the
Council of State; but in this body also, all the old fac-
tions, all the civil and military cliques, the zealots and
moderate men, Fleetwood and Lambert, Vane and White-
locke, mutually trammelled and nullified one another,
either by the discordance of their views, or by their rival
aspirations to dominion. A declaration was published
in the name of the army, on the 27th of October, to jus-
tify what had been done ; but though full of well-founded
recriminations against the expelled Parliament, it was so
weak in defence of its own cause, and so utterly devoid

! Price’s Memoirs, p. 45; Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 121, 122.
? Between the 17th and 27th of October, 1659.
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of authority, that many officers, disregarding its publica-
tion, endeavoured to collect together a competent number
of members of Parliament, in the hope of being able to
induce them to pronounce their own dissolution. Some
even entertained the idea of making Richard Cromwell
Protector once again; and with his usual readiness to
accede to anything that was suggested to him, he came
to London on the 26th of October, under the escort of
three squadrons of cavalry ; but the proposition was re-
jected, by a few votes only, it is said, in the general
council of officers, and Richard returned to Hampton
Court, to await patiently their decision regarding him.
Colonel Cobbett had been sent into Scotland, and Colonel
Barrow into Ireland, to secure the approval of the armies
in those countries to all that had been done by their
comrades in England ; but news arrived that Cobbett,
on reaching Berwick, and endeavouring to secure that
garrison, had been arrested by order of Monk, who had
preceded him in getting possession of the place; and
Barrow found the army in Ireland so divided that he
was unable to obtain from it any testimony of approba-
tion for the army in England. Even in England, although
discord did not openly break out in the general council
of officers, several of its members, from conscientious
or prudential motives, took care to notify their dissent
from its proceedings. On the 1st of November, Colonel
Morley and eight other officers addressed a long and
eloquent protest to Fleetwood, against the purely military
government to which he was giving his support; the
governors of several important towns, among others of
Portsmouth, were dissatisfied and wavering; and at a
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distance from London, in most of the counties, the new
ruling power, either because of its own inertness, or from
the revolt ‘of public feeling against it, was at onoce un-
popular and ineffective. “ Some that are employed in
civil and military affairs in this county of Montgomery,”
wrote an officer to Fleetwood on the 28th of October,
“have not received the least express or account from any
public person since the dissolution or interruption of the
late Parliament. I have been at a meeting for the se-
questration and the militia, and there was but one per-
son to join with me. The commissioners of the militia
are loath to meddle in it, being themselves unconcerned ;
and the commissioners for sequestration are also loath to
raise moneys, they know not for whom, nor to what end.
The army heretofore declared their repentance for their
former interruption of the Parliament ; we know not but
they may please to repent for this also, or else the former
repentance is to be repented of. In this country we are
not so used to the late Parliament but that if a more
righteous settlement be held forth, we shall soon close
with it ; but we are loath to act by an implicit faith.”!
On the receipt of Monk’s letters, the members of the
Committee of Safety, Fleetwood, Lambert, Desborough,
Sydenham, Vane, Whitelocke, and Ludlow, assembled in
all haste at Whitehall, some in surprise, and none with-

! Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 685, 686; Ludlow’s Memoirs, pp.
803-308; A Declaration of the General Council of the Officers of the
Army, agreed on at Wallingford House, on the 27th of October, 1659
(London, printed by Alfred Hills, Printer to the Army) ; Monk’s Let-
ters, pp. 5~9; Thurloe’s State Papers, vol. vii. pp. 770, 771-774; Cla-
rendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 591 ; Bordeaux to Mazarin, Novem.
ber 3, 1669. See APPENDIX.



THE DAWN OF THE RESTORATION. 27

out disquietude. What did Mook mean? How were
they to act towards him? Vane and Whitelocke ex-
pressed their suspicion that he meditated the Restoration
of Charles Stuart. Ludlow (who was in intimate alliance
with Scott and Haslerig, and constantly vacillated, from
scruple rather than weakness, between the Parliament
and the army,) was disposed to think better of him.
Fleetwood was in deep grief. Lambert offered to march
against Monk. All agreed however that it would be
better, in the first instance, to endeavour to prevent so
dangerous a rupture. It was presumed that Clarges,
Monk’s brother-in-law, and Talbot, the Colonel of his
regiment of infantry, who happened to be in London at
the time, would be the best instruments to effect a recon-
ciliation. At midnight, they were sent for; their in-
structions were given them on the spot, and they were
allowed three hours to prepare for the journey. The
next morning they set out; and on the same day, Lam-
bert was appointed commander of all the troops in the
north of England. He was promised an army of nine
or ten thousand men, and ordered, if the attempt at re-
conciliation should fail, to give Monk battle without
delay.!

Lambert prepared to depart at once; but the members
of a small committee which had been appointed to draw
up a scheme of a new constitution—Fleetwood, Vane,
Whitelocke, Salloway, Titchborne, and Ludlow—earnestly
pressed him to wait until their draft was ready, and had

1 'Whitelooke's Memorials, pp. 685, 686 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 812;
Price’s Memoirs, p. 52 ; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 721 ; Skinner’s Life of
Monk, pp. 129-131; Bordeaux to Mazarin, November 6, 1659. See
APPENDIX.
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received his approbation. “It would very much tend
to facilitate his present undertaking,” they said, “ especi-
ally if the establishment designed were so just and equal,
that a good man might reasonably adventure his life in
defence of it; whereas, on the contrary, if things were
left uncertain, and no form of government agreed upon,
men would not easily be persuaded to engage for a party,
against those who at least pretend to act for the civil
authority.” Lambert acknowledged the force of these
representations ; but the necessity to take the field was
still more urgent, and he set out notwithstanding the
wishes of the committee. ¢ Continue your deliberations,”
he said, “and send me your resolutions: I promise to
approve them.””!

But nothing can suffice to calm the minds of men who
are disturbed at once by a consciousness of their danger,
their weakness, and their wrongfulness. Behind the events
that were occurring in Scotland, the leaders of the domi-
nant faction in London could clearly perceive the two
opposite rivals whom they had successively expelled and
outraged,—the Long Parliament and Charles Stuart.
Accordingly, no sooner had they despatched Clarges to
pacify Monk, and Lambert to give him battle, than, still
preyed upon by the same anxiety, they sought in every
direction for other means of averting the blow which they
foresaw was inevitable. The officers of the army in Eng-
land wrote to the officers of the Scottish army; Fleetwood
replied to Monk’s letter with the affectionate and almost
suppliant frankness of an old friend, who was less alarmed
than grieved by what his comrade had done. A multi-

! Whitelocke's Memorials, p. 686 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 812.
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tude of private letters were sent from London to Dalkeith,
with the intention either of awakening sympathy, or
sowing division. Five new commissioners were suddenly
despatched to Scotland ; two officers, Whalley and Goffe,
and three ministers, Caryll, Hammond, and Barker,—
who, it was thought, would be able to exert a favourable
influence either on Monk himself, or on those by whom
he was surrounded. Fleetwood sent to him, on his own
account, a sixth messenger in the person of Dean, one of
the treasurers of the army, an adroit and obstinate Re-
publican, who would be capable of flattering the General
while he was labouring to debauch his soldiers. Two
new regiments of cavalry were raised in London, and
Vane and Whitelocke were appointed their Colonels, in
order to prove that the army had some of the Parlia-
mentary leaders on its side. Money was wanting to
meet the expenditure, and as there was no longer a Par-
liament to vote taxes, the only way of raising it was by
way of loan from the City. Fleetwood, Whitelocke, and
Desborough had two interviews with the Common Coun-
cil, on the 4th and 8th of November, in reference to this
subject. Desborough, at these conferences, endeavoured
to justify the officers for having expelled the Parliament.
“ Many opinions may run,” he said, “touching our ac-
tions in the late alteration and disturbance. It is said
it was only to keep eight or nine officers in their places;
but it is very well known some of us have laboured an
opportunity to be quit of our commands. Some give out
as if we intended to debase magistracy and trample down
ministry : but God will bear us witness to the contrary.
The truth of it is we are so far from undervaluing a go-



80 RICHARD CROMWELL AND

vernment that we always thought a bad one with peace,
better than none at all.” The loud laughter of his audi-
ence at this statement interrupted the speaker. White-
locke, generally so reserved, went so far as to give expres-
sion to his real fears, doubtless in the hope of being able
to arouse the old passions of the people. ‘Beware of
the proceedings of Monk,” he said; “the bottom of his
design is to bring in the King upon a new civil war. You
are sufficiently aware of the danger of such disturbances
to the City and nation ; wherefore I counsel you to pro-
vide for your own safety, and to join with us for the pre-
servation of the peace.” But Whitelocke was mistaken
as to the public feeling of the period ; and the utterance
of the King’s name in the City was fraught with greater
danger to the Commonwealth than to to the exiled mon-
arch. The Common Council, as little moved by White-
locke’s apprehensions as by Desborough’s apologies,
thanked the deputation for their communications, but
did not comply with their request.

Whether from policy, or from inability to resist its in-
fluence, the new rulers were themselves under the sway
of popular feeling to such an extent that, at the very time
when they were striving to exasperate the people against
the King, they ordered the liberation of six of the prin-
cipal Royalist leaders who had been detained in custody
since Sir George Boeth’s insurrection,—the Lords North-
ampton, Falkland, Castleton, Howard, Herbert, and Bel-

! Monk’s Letters, pp. 21-29 ; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 686 ; Old
Parliamentary History, vol. xxii. pp. 10-17 ; Baker’s Chronicle, pp. 726,
727 ; Bkinner's Life of Monk, pp. 141-143; Clarendon’s State Papers,

vol. iii. p. 601; Bordeaux to Turenne, November 10, 1659 ; Bordeaux
to Mazarin, November 10-17, 1659. See APPENDIX.
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lasis; and a few weeks afterwards, Lord Fanshaw and
Booth himself were also released. “This,” says White-
locke, ““ was to ingratiate us with the Cavaliers.”?
Whilst he was thus a cause of terror and anxiety in
London, Monk had himself to encounter difficulties and
dangers in Scotland. He had endeavoured to secure
Carlisle and Newcastle, on the English border, but his
officers had failed in their attempts, and those two
strongholds still remained in the power of the English
army. The answers which he had received from the
army in Ireland, from the governors of several important
towns (among others from Major-General Overton, who
commanded at Hull), and from twenty-two officers of the
fleet stationed in the Downs, were far from favourable;
they expressed great anxiety as to the consequences of
his resolution, and urged him strongly to be reconciled
with his comrades in England, who, in spite of their dif-
ferences of opinion, could not be suspected of entertain-
ing any evil designs against the common cause. In his
own army, even after the changes he had made, a consi-
derable number of officers were still wavering ; and those
whom he had cashiered, but who still remained with their
regiments, awaiting the payment of their arrears, laboured
hard to shake the fidelity of their comrades. Messengers
and letters arrived daily from England, with a view to
spread doubt and disloyalty through his camp. Efforts
were made, though without success, to tamper with his
private secretary, Mr. Clarke. The ministers of the In-
dependent churches, to whom he had made advances in
the hope of securing their co-operation, as he was well
! Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 686, 689.
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" aware of their influence with the people, met him with
coldness and disapprobation. “ Lambert’s action of turn-
ing out the Parliament,” they said, “ could not be justified ;
but Monk had not a call to appear against it ; he had
in charge only to keep Scotland in quiet, and was not
bound to take notice of any differences that might hap-
pen in England. Why should he put a strife among
those that hitherto had been brethren, engaged all along
in the same cause, partakers in the same dangers and the
same successes, and who still, in their papers and all their
addresses, called and owned one another for brethren ?
Whatever inconveniences should happen would be laid
at his door, as he would appear to have been the beginner
of the war.”!

Monk was defending himself, with his usual vigilant
- calmness, against these internal perplexities, when the
commissioners who had been sent to him from London
arrived in Edinburgh. The first who made their appear-
ance were Clarges and Talbot, the envoys of the Com-
mittee of Safety, and they were soon followed by Dean,
the special messenger of Fleetwood. He received them
with every demonstration of friendship. He knew he
could rely on the intelligent devotedness of Clarges, and
on the very evening of his arrival, he had a private con-
versation with him. “I am astonished,” he said, *that
Fleetwood and Lambert should have sent you to me;
and I think it a good omen to my success that I have
you to assist my designs.” Clarges frankly asked him

! Price’s Memoirs, pp. 66, 56; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 136-138,
142, 143 ; Bkinner's Life of Monk, p. 127 ; Monk’s Letters, Pp. 32, 38;
‘Whitelocke's Memorials, p. 687 ; Baker's Chronicle, p. 728.
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what his designs really were, and told him “ that it was
impossible for him to be ever trusted again, after this
rupture, even if he patched up a peace with the English
army.” He added that he had observed great conster-
nation among both officers and men in the various gar-
risons through which he had passed, and that he had no
doubt that many of them would join him ; but he wished
to know what Monk intended to do.

Even to his most intimate confidants, Monk disliked
to explain his intentions; and this arose not only from
his natural prudence, but from a desire not to bind him-
self by any words he might utter, and to remain through-
out free to act as he thought best. He told Clarges that
he was resolved to free his country from the slavery into
which it had fallen ; and to effect this object, he thought
the best expedient would be to restore the Parliament.
But if, by the success of his arms, he succeeded in re-
storing the Parliament, he would make no difference
between the members who had at any time sate in it,
and would recall the secluded members as well as the
others. “But I conjure you to secrecy on this point,”
he added to Clarges: “it has often been cast in my dish,
by some of my ill-willers, that the King is at the bottom
of my designs; and the jealousy had on me by the army
is so great that all I contrive will be little enough to
beget a confidence even in my own party to engage with
me.?

" They then proceeded to compare the means of action
.which the two parties about to engage in the struggle

1 Baker’s Chronicle, p. 724; Skinner’s Life of Monk, p. 133.
2 Baker’s Chronicle, p. 724.
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had at their disposal. “I have about seventy thousand
pounds in money,” said Monk, “ part of which is already
in my treasury, and the rest will in a short time be
paid into it. All my magazines are very well stored
with arms, ammunition, and other necessaries; and I
have in part modelled my army fit for my purposes; but
1 shall want a month to draw my men together.” Clarges
told him that the distress of the English army was
very great; that, when Lambert started on his expe-
dition, he had scarcely been able to obtain one month’s
pay for his troops; and that they would therefore soon
be obliged to live at free quarters, which would make
them very burdensome and distasteful to the country.
“The season also is against them,” added Clarges: “so
that if by a treaty, or any other means, you can gain
time, your business may be done without hazard.” Monk
agreed that the overture of a treaty which had been made
to him by Fleetwood and Lambert might be improved
to his great advantage; and on the following morning,
he assembled the general council of his officers to take
the matter into consideration.

Notwithstanding his taciturn disposition, Monk clearly
understood that, in the enterprise in which he had en-
gaged, the mere obedience of his agents would not be
sufficient, but that he must have their intelligent and
voluntary co-operation. He had accordingly constituted
his officers into a grand council, at which all affairs of im-
portance were discussed. In this council, Monk allowed

! Baker's Chronicle, pp. 724, 725 ; Gumble's Life of Monk, pp. 107,.
137 ; Whitelocke's Memorials, p. 686; Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp.
133, 134.
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every one to say what he pleased, and spoke little him-
self; but the indirect pains that he took beforehand to
give the right turn to the discussion, and the weight of
his authority when the moment arrived for closing the
debate, secured the adoption of his own views, at least
during this brief period of urgent and vehement action.
The propriety of a negotiation with the army in England
was admitted at once by the council ; such a proceeding
satisfied the scruples and removed the hesitation of many
of its members. Three commissioners were appointed to
proceed to London for the purpose of carrying it on;
and the council left their choice to the General. Monk
however would only consent to select two, and requested
the officers to nominate the third themselves. They
chose a person who was most distasteful to him, and
whose presence was likely to interfere with the successful
prosecution of his designs. But Monk knew how to
bear with equanimity any small failures that did not en-
danger his ultimate triumph. He made no objection to
the appointment, and the three commissioners set out for
London without delay.!

On reaching York, they fell in with Lambert, who had
come to take the command of his army, which, it was
said, already numbered twelve thousand men. As soon
as he ascertained that the three officers of the Scottish
army were proceeding to London to negotiate, Lambert
urged them to go no further, but to treat with him, for
he assured them, with his usual insolent vanity, he had
* 1 On the 4th of November, 1659 ; Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 133~
135 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 56; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 140, 144;

Monk’s Letters, p. 30; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 725 ; Bordeaux to Maza-
rin, November 20, 1659. See APPENDIX. 0
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all the necessary powers to conclude an accommodation.
But when he learned that their instructions were to de-
mand, in the first instance, the restoration of that very
Parliament which he had just expelled, Lambert re-
nounced the office of a negotiator, and allowed Monk’s
commissioners to continue their journey. As however he
was in no haste to take the field, he agreed with them
that, pending the negotiation, the troops on both sides
should make no movement, and that hostilities should not
commence. He flattered himself that he had in his hands
the means of putting an end, by his own adroitness and
without a conflict, to the danger which threatened himself
and his friends. - At York, he had found General Morgan
who, on returning from his campaigns in Flanders, where
he had served with dist'inction under Turenne, had been
appointed Major-General of the army in Scotland, and was
proceeding to his post when a violent attack of gout had
forced him to halt on the road. Lambert went to see his
old comrade, and paid him marked attention. Morgan,
probably fearing that his liberty might be endangered if
he professed other views, censured Monk’s conduct very
severely, and lamented its probable consequences. Lam-
bert asked him whether he would not do his best to avert
them by using his influence, either to induce Monk to
alter his determination, or to persuade the Scottish army
not to allow itself to be made the instrument of his de-
signs. Morgan consented to do what he could; and at
the same time that Monk’s commissioners left York
to pursue their negotiations in London, Morgan also
took his departure for Edinburgh, with instructions to
make terms with Monk on Lambert’s behalf, or if he
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failed in that attempt to tamper with the fidelity of his
soldiers.!

Monk received Morgan as an old friend, and as an
officer of whose ability he had the highest opinion. At
their first interview Morgan said to him: “ I come to ask
you if you will lay down your arms, and be friends with
Fleetwood and Lambert.” “ If they will restore the Par-
liament,” replied Mouk, I have little more to say; and
if you please, you may let them know as much.” I pro-
mised to ask you the question,” answered Morgan, “but
not to return to them that sent me, if you denied it. I
am very glad I am here with you to assist you, and follow
your fortunes in all your undertakings. You know I am
no statesman ; I am sure you are a lover of your country ;
and therefore I will join with you in all your actions, and
submit to your prudence and judgment in the conduct of
them.” And to prove that he was sincere in his protes-
tations, and that they had not been made on the mere
spur of the moment, Lambert’s messenger delivered to
Monk a letter which he had received at York from Dr.
Bowles, Fairfax’s chaplain, in which the General of the
Scottish army was assured of the co-operation of the
former General of the Long Parliament, and of a large
number of the gentlemen of Yorkshire, if he would only
proclaim his opposition to the established government
more distinctly and decisively than he had done in his
published declaration.?

“ What you ask would be my ruin,” said Monk, “ since

! Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 187, 188 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 55;
‘Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 688 ; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 725.

* Baker’s Chronicle, p. 726 ; Skinner's Life of Monk, p. 139; Gum-
ble’s Tife of Monk, pp. 143, 144.
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all I have writ can scarce prevail with the army to believe
1 have not a design to set up the King;” and he there-
fore continued to dissemble. But his conduct daily be-
came more clear and resolute. He sent away from Scot-
land, without paying them, those cashiered officers who
werc endeavouring to animate his soldiers against him ;
“ Let them go,” he said, “ and demand their arrears from
the masters whom they serve.” He invited the principal
Scottish nobles, and a certain number of deputies from
the counties and towns, to assemble in Edinburgh. They
responded to his summons with alacrity. Monk received
them in presence of his English officers, whose suspicions
he was most careful to lull, announced to them that he
was about to leave Scotland and march into England to
defend the laws and public liberties of the nation, and
requested them to support his plans by paying into his
treasury the taxes which were in arrear, and by maintain-
ing order during his absence both on the borders and in
the interior of the country. They would gladly, in their
turn, have asked and offered more than this; but Monk,
without offending them, postponed the consideration of
their claims, restrained their zeal, and received their pro-
mise to do what he had required of them; and sure that
they perfectly understood his intentions although he had
made no definite statement to them, he dismissed the as-
sembly, after appointing a second conference at Berwick, in
order that, at the moment when he actually went out of
their country, he might, in concert with them, adopt those
final measures which he considered necessary to its safety.

! Price’s Memoirs, p. 57 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 146-151 ; Skin-
ner’s Life of Monk, pp. 143, 166; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 688.
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It is easy to deceive those who are willing to be de-
ceived, provided that appearances are saved, and that
they may one day be able to say, if circumstances require
it, that they have been misled. Most of those by whom
Monk was surrounded desired no more than this. Some
few however, less disposed to close their eyes to what
was going on around them, felt alarmed at the dangers
into which they were being hurried ; and Treasurer Dean,
Fleetwood’s envoy in Scotland, though treated with great
kindness by Monk, audaciously fomented their apprehen-
sions. Passing one day in front of a company of infan-
try, he told them: “ My Lord Lambert is coming upon
you, and all Monk’s army will not be enough for a break-
fast for him.” “ Lambert has a very good stomach this
cold weather,” replied the offended soldiers, ““if he can
eat pikes and swallow bullets.” On another occasion, at
the General’s own table, Dean, in the heat of argument,
went so far as to say that, by dividing the army, Monk
had taken the best means to bring back Charles Stuart.
“It is you that will bring him in,” retorted Chaplain
Price indignantly ; “for ye in England have more than
justified the late King; for he did but demand five
members of the House of Commons, and ye have dis-
solved a whole Parliament.”” Dean made no answer;
the other guests smiled ; a few minutes after, Monk left
the room, and sent for his chaplain. “Mr. Price,” he
said, “you know that I desired that you would not med-
dle or make with these people; pray let them alone: I
can be undone by none but you and my wife.” But
Monk’s anxious prudence never slackened his vigour when
the hour of action arrived. As soon as he considered
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himself in a condition to commence the campaign, he
sent Dean away from Scotland with a severe reprimand
for his arrogance ; dismissed in the same manner Colonel
Barrett, who had come from Ireland to injure him by
similar intrigues; despatched his brother-in-law Clarges
to London, with instructions to stop at York to confer
with Fairfax’s chaplain; issued orders to his troops to
begin their march; and went forward himself, with his
staff, on the 18th of November, 1659, to Haddington,
some miles from Edinburgh, on the road to England.!

He had but just arrived, and was dining with his
officers, when two commissioners, coming in from Lon-
don, delivered to him a packet of despatches from the
Committee of Safety. Monk opened it, read the papers,
gave them for perusal to those who were present, retired
to his own room without saying a word, and returned the
next morning to Edinburgh.

The document which had produced this alteration in
his plans was a treaty in nine articles, for the reconcilia-
tion of the two armies, which Monk’s commissioners had
negotiated and concluded, in three days, with the repre-
sentatives of the Committee of Safety. On their arrival
in London, on the 12th of November, they had been
at once surrounded, circumvented, cajoled, intimidated.
They had been persuaded, at one time, that Lambert’s
infinitely superior force would destroy Monk’s army in a
few days; and at another, that if discord continued to
prevail between the two armies, the good old cause would
be ruined, and that they might cover themselves with

! Price’s Memoirs, p. 54 ; Baker's Chronicle, pp. 726, 727 ; Skinner's
Life of Monk, p. 140.
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glory by promptly restoring union. Colonel Wilks, the
commissioner whom Monk had not selected, immediately
adopted the propositions made by Fleetwood’s officers ;
the other two, Major Knight and Lieutenant-Colonel
Asberry, forgetting that Monk had expressly enjoined
them to make it their chief endeavour to gain time, al-
lowed themselves to be persuaded; and on the 16th of
November, they had signed an accommodation which
renewed all the old Republican pledges against Charles
Stuart and every form of monarchical government, made
no provision for the recall of the expelled Long Parlia-
ment, merely promised the speedy convocation of a new
Parliament, left the administration of the country in the
meanwhile in the hands of a general council of officers
in which the officers of the English army retained a cer-
tain preponderance, and prepared the way for the disor-
ganization of the Scottish army by subjecting to the de-
cision of a mixed committee the validity of the commis-
sions of those officers whom Monk had latterly appointed
in the stead of those whom he was unable to trust. In
short, the treaty involved the ruin of Monk, the destruc-
tion of his power, the dispersion of his partisans, and the
frustration of his designs.!

On his return to Edinburgh, where rumours of the
terms of the accommodation were already rife, Monk
found his staff in great excitement; those officers espe-
cially, whose recent promotion was called in question,
were loud in their denunciations of the proposed ar-
rangement. Monk strode silently up and down the
council-chamber, listening to the angry conversations and

! Bordeaux to Mazarin, November 24-27, 1659. See APPENDIX.
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discontented murmurs of his officers. Chaplain Gumble
entered the room. “ How now?” said the General to
him ; « what say you to this agreement ?”  Truly, Sir,”
he answered, « I have not yet seen it ; but I hear so well
of it, that I am come to make a little request to you this
morning.”  “What is that, I wonder?” demanded
Monk. “ Even that you would sign me a pass to go
into Holland,” replied the chaplain: “yonder is a ship
at Leith that is ready to set sail.” “ What !” exclaimed
the General ; “ will you now leave me ?”” “I know not,”
answered Gumble, “how you may shift for yourself by
your greatness, but be confident that they will never be
at rest till they have torn you from your command, and
what they will do with you then it concerns you to con-
sider; but for my part, though I am a poor man, I will
never put myself into their power, for I know it will not
be for my safety.” ¢ Will you lay the blame upon me ?”
cried Monk ; “if the army will stick to me, I will stick
to them.” All who heard him exclaimed that they were
ready to live and die with their General ; some went out
to communicate the good tidings to their comrades ; and
the room was soon surrounded by crowds of officers,
subalterns, and soldiers, all burning with the same en-
thusiasm. The movement was so general and resolute
that the malecontents did not venture to express their
dissent. A general council of officers was immediately
convoked, in which it was proposed that the treaty should
be utterly repudiated, and that the commissioners who
had signed it should be accused of treason, as having
exceeded their powers. But Monk was fully aware of
the embarrassments which result from the adoption of
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extreme resolutions, and of the reaction by which they
are invariably accompanied. He gave it as his opinion
that it would be better merely to declare that, as some
of the articles of the treaty were obscure and required
interpretation, it could not be immediately ratified ; and
to suggest that the negotiations should be continued, that
two additional commissioners should be appointed on
each side, to assist those already nominated, and that, in
order that they might be nearer the scene of action, they
should transfer their place of meeting from London to
some town in the north of England, such as Alnwick or
Newecastle, where they should treat definitively of peace.
This advice met with unanimous approval; the council
broke up, leaving the General serene, and the officers
joyful ; the messengers of the Committee of Safety were
sent back to their masters with these new propositions ;
no alteration was made in the orders which had been
given for the forward movement of the army ; and Monk
prepared at once to leave Edinburgh, and remove his
head-quarters to Berwick.!

When this intelligence reached London, it produced
the greatest disappointment and consternation. The
party leaders in the capital had flattered themselves that
the treaty had put an end to all further disagreement,
and hoped that they had out-manceuvred their enemy,
whereas they now found that they were out-manceuvred
themselves. Their ill-humour was vented in the first
instance on Lambert, who still lay motionless at York or

1 Price's Memoirs, p. 556; Gumble's Life of Monk, pp. 151-155;
Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 146-162; Baker’s Chronicle, pp. 729-731 ;

‘Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 688, 689; Monk's Letters, pp. 34-37;
Bordeaux to Mazarin, December 5-11, 1659. See APPENDIX.
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Newoastle, though very superior in force to his antago-
nist. Before this, when it was discovered that he had
allowed Monk’s three commissioners to pass through his
camp without hindrance, and had even promised not to
commence hostilities until the negotiations were at an end,
several members of the Committee had expressed their
disapprobation of his conduct, and Whitelocke had re-
commended that he should be ordered to attack Monk
without delay, for,”” said he, “ Monk seeks delays, and
his intentions are not for peace.” But his advice was
not adopted. He had afterwards returned to the charge
on several occasions, and was constantly beseeching
Fleetwood “not to be too credulous of Monk’s pre-
tences.” When the messengers of the Committee re-
turned from Edinburgh, with the announcement that
Monk refused to ratify the treaty, and bearing a compli-
mentary letter in which he explained to Fleetwood his mo-
tives for proposing the prolongation of the negotiations,—
“This also,” said Whitelocke, “is only a delay in Monk
to gain time, and be the better prepared for his design
to bring in the King, and to bring the Scottish army
here, and to throw our party into more straits for want
of pay, which he has got for his forces. Wherefore I
advise that Lambert fall upon Monk presently, to bring
the matter to an issue, before his soldiers grow more
confident, and our party more discouraged.” But White-
locke, on this occasion also, was equally unsuccessful in
obtaining the adoption of his advice ; and the Committee,
instead of ordering an attack, authorized the resumption
of negotiations.!
! Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 688, 689.
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Whitelocke, who saw so clearly through the designs
of Monk, might have advantageously extended his ob-
servations to other quarters. In this general disorgan-
ization of the Commonwealth, nearly all the important
men, and the leaders of the army more especially, were
seeking by all sorts of devices to secure for themselves
the favour of the government which was to succeed it.
Lambert had been for some time in regular communica-
tion with the Royalists; he was even regarded by one
portion of their body, namely the Catholics, with marked
preference ; whilst the Presbyterians were in general fa-
vourable to Monk. Lambert had been encouraged to
hope that the Duke of York might marry his daughter:
and when circumstances became more pressing, the vanity
and zeal of the negotiators, were carried still further; to-
wards the end of October, at the time when Lambert
was leaving London to take the field against Monk, Lord
Hatton wrote to Hyde: “1I have received from a very
good hand a motion, which I am limited to declare only
to yourself and Mr. Secretary Nicholas, to be communi-
cated only to the King, and humbly to beg the assurance
from his Majesty, upon the word of a King, that he will
impart it to no person else. . . . It is thought by the
movers in this business, that no security can serve him
who can settle the King in his three thrones, but such a
bond as the established law of the nation cannot violate
or break : and that is, that the King should marry the
Lord Lambert’s daughter. The grounds of the motion
are, the great ease and speed of settling the King’s busi-
ness this way rather than any other. The many diffi-
culties and very hard conditions which, it is believed, are
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found in all other ways, will be cut off, it being in this
case the lady’s fate and interest that so it should be.
And it is believed, no foreign aid will be so cheap, nor
leave our master at so much liberty as this way. The
race is a very good gentleman’s family, and Kings have
condescended to gentlewomen and subjects. The lady
is pretty, of an extraordinary sweetness of disposition,
and very virtuously and ingenuously disposed ; the father
is a person, set aside his unhappy engagement, of very
great parts, and very noble inclinations, and certainly
more capable of being passed by than the rest. I have
delivered my message, and am next to desire you will
speed away to me your two opinions whether you think
fit to move it to our master or not. If you think it not
fit, let me know, and let it die, and burn this letter. If
you find cause to propose it, then put all the expedition
to it that may be; and if our master approve it, then let
that be drawn up into a letter, with very hearty expres-
sions, and sufficient authority to the party to whom it
shall be addressed.” As might have been expected, no
answer was returned to this proposition; Cromwell, a
more high-minded and sensible man, had rejected the
possibility of such overtures being made to his own
daughter. But day after day, from all the sections of .
the revolutionary party, advances of an equally complai-
sant and presumptuous character were made to Charles
in his exile. In the midst of this general reaction, even
Fleetwood did not remain behindhand ; after the defeat
of Sir George Booth, Mr. Littleton wrote to Hyde:
“ Fleetwood was made so sensible of his duty, or (I fear)
rather his interest, that if his Majesty had appeared at
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the head of an army, he was resolved to come over to
his party; and he continues yet so firm to these impres-
sions, that his Majesty may be very confident he will not
fail of all the assistance he is able to bring him, upon
the next conjuncture of his affairs.” To which commu-
nication Hyde replied on the 10th of October: *The
character which we have always received of the man, is
not such as makes him equal to any notable design, or
to be much relied on to-morrow for what in truth he re-
solved to do yesterday. However, as his wit is not so
great as some of the rest, so his wickedness is much less
apparent ; and therefore industry and dexterity must be
used to dispose and confirm him in his good inclinations,
and let him take his own time for the manifestation of
it.” And in a letter written on the next day, he adds:
“If the two crowns [of France and Spain] will but
frankly declare that they will have nothing to do with
these mad fellows, who have no form or order of govern-
ment, nor any rules to live by among themselves, or to-
wards other men, we should quickly make an end of the
work ; and a little more money than, twenty years since,
would have served to have purchased five of our western
manors, would now serve to purchase the kingdom.”?
Hyde was mistaken in his insolent opinion, as it fre-
quently happens to men who have had long experience
of human weakness and turpitude. It was not the ve-
nality of a few leaders, but the general tendency of the
nation, enlightened and wearied out by its own errors,
which was to place the sceptre once more in the hands

! Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. pp. 688, 691, 592, 599, 608, 561,
577, 579.
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of a Stuart; and if public opinion had not undergone a
change, Charles might in vain have bought the great
personages who offered themselves for purchase. More-
over, even in their ranks, the defection was neither so..
ready nor so complete as Hyde took pleasure in repre-
senting it; at the same time that so many were return-
ing, from sincere or corrupt motives, to their allegiance
to royalty, there were not wanting numerous examples
of conscientious devotion and blind attachment to the
Commonwealth. The leading civilians more especially,
Vane, Haslerig, Scott, Neville, Harrington, and Milton,
even in the midst of their dissensions, would never ad-
mit that their cause would be lost, whatever reverses it
might suffer; and they remained its defenders at all
risks, in the expectation that they might become its
martyrs.

Those among them who were supporters of the ex-
pelled Parliament, with Haslerig at their head, watched
Monk with suspicious sympathy ; nothing could be more
in accordance with their views than his language and his
actions, but they hesitated to put confidence in the man.
They were besides rather offended with him because,
when he sent commissioners to London to treat with the
general council of officers, he had taken no notice of
them, the very men whose cause he had espoused. Ha-
slerig had retired to Woodstock, saying that he was de-
termined not to furnish the Royalists with any pretext
for taking up arms, and that it would be better to grant
all the demands of the army than, by opposing them, to
incur any such danger. However, when these sturdy
Parliamentarians saw Monk unfurl the banner of the
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Long Parliament so unhesitatingly,—when they learned
that he had refused to ratify the treaty which had been
concluded in London by his commissioners, and in which
their interests were abandoned,—they began to feel that
they might trust an ally who had acted with such firm-
ness, and they resolved to give him immediate proofs of
their confidence. On the 19th of November, nine mem-
bers of the old Council of State met quietly in London,
under the presidency of Scott, and signed a letter, in
which they expressed their gratitude to Monk for his
fidelity to the Parliament, approved of all he had hitherto
done with so much courage and wisdom, and pledged
themselves to stand and fall with him in defence of the
good cause which he had so highly owned in his De-
claration, One of Haslerig’s servants was sent with this
letter into Scotland ; and six days afterwards, the same
Committee, after making some few futile reservations, ap-
pointed Monk General-in-chief of all the forces of Eng-
land and Scotland, and secretly sent him his commission.!

Nothing could have been more in accordance with
Monk’s wishes, or have rendered him more effectual ser-
vice in the prosecution of his designs. He had now-a
legitimate right to use the cloak with which he had
hitherto covered his real purpose; his acts were sanc-
tioned by the last surviving representatives of that old
Parliament whose servant he professed himself to be.
He now took up his quarters at Berwick, and collected
his troops together in that place, that he might be ready
to enter England as soon as the moment for action

! Baker’s Chronicle, p. 732; Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 165, 156;
Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 311.
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should arrive. Other news of a no less favourable cha-
racter soon reached him from various quarters. Early
in December Colonel Whetham, the Governor of Ports-
mouth, declared in favour of the re-establishment of the
Parliament, invited Haslerig into the town, and the
troops which were sent from London to attack him went
over to his side. A similar movement, fomented by
Lord Broghill, who concealed his royalist tendencies far
less carefully than Monk had done, took place in Ireland,
and Captain Campbell was sent into Scotland with in-
structions to inform Monk of the views of his comrades,
and to offer him a reinforcement of troops, if he should
require it. The Irish brigade, which was serving in
England in Lambert’s army, entertained the same opi-
nions. The news which was received from the fleet led
to the belief that the dominant faction in London had
lost all credit with the sailors, and that Admiral Lawson,
the commanding officer, would ere long declare in favour
of the recall of the Parliament. Lord Fairfax sent his
cousin Bryan Fairfax to Monk, with the assurance that,
on the 1st of January, he would be ready to rise in arms
iy, Yorkshire, and with the request that Monk would
keep watch on Lambert, that he might not be able to
take measures to prevent or suppress the promised in.
surrection. “Tell my Lord Fairfax not to be uneasy,”
said Monk, embracing the young messenger; “ I will
watch Lambert as a cat watches a mouse, and a troop of
horse shall not move but I will follow them.” Lambert
was in no haste to commence the attack ; he waited, in-
trigued, complained that his troops were not paid, and in
the meanwhile allowed them to commit excesses which
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brought both him and them into discredit; to cover his
own inaction by their objections, he held frequent council
with his officers ; and though his embarrassments daily
increased, he could find no better remedy than sending
messages to Monk to complain of his proceedings, to urge
the resumption of negotiations, and debate trivial ques-
tions relating to passports and places of conference.
- Monk might well congratulate himself on having
gained time, for time alone had disorganized, and almost
vanquished, his enemies. And his silence had been as
successful as his patience; his real object remained as
doubtful and obscure as he could wish it to be. In his
immediate neighbourhood as well as at a distance, his
adherents no less than his adversaries were full of un-
certainty and anxiety. One of his officers, not a Roy-
alist, while in friendly conversation one evening with his
chaplain Price, constantly recurred to this inquiry: “Do
you think the General is for the King?” Price endea-
voured, but with little success, to convince him that this
was not the case. The conversation was continued to
such a late hour of the night that the officer was obliged
to sleep in the chaplain’s room. His suspicions howevér
agitated him to such a degree that he awoke suddenly,
and exclaimed, “ The General is certainly for the King:”
upon which Price begged him to dismiss so ridiculous
an idea from his mind, and to let him sleep in peace.
But by dint of taking so much pains to lull the suspi-
! Ludlow’s Memoirs, pp. 811-314; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 689 ;
Baker's Chronicle, p. 733; Price’s Memoirs, p. 70; Skinner’s Life of
Monk, pp. 171, 174; Bell’s Fairfax Correspondence, vol. ii. pp. 151~

178; Morrice’s Memoirs of Roger Boyle, Earl of Orrery, chap. v.
p. 81.
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cions of his Republican friend, the Royalist chaplain at
last grew disquieted in his own mind, and began to
doubt whether Monk really intended to restore the King.
Unable to endure this uncertainty, and impatient to have
his doubts removed, and again to urge on his impene-
trable patron the necessity of adopting a decided resolu-
_tion, Price went one night, very late, into the General’s
room. Monk was lying in his clothes, asleep on two
chairs, near the fire. On being suddenly awoke, he
graciously allowed his anxious chaplain to reiterate to
him his ardent desire that he would restore at length
what Price always called “the old laws of England,” and
to express his deep grief that he should, by word and
deed, continue to declare himself the champion of the
Long Parliament. “Mr. Price,” said Monk, “ you see
who are about me; I must not show any dislike of
them ; I perceive they are jealous enough of me already.
But I know your meaning, and I have long known it.
By the grace of God, I will do it, if ever I can find it in
my power; and I do not much doubt but that I shall.”
He then rose, and taking both Price’s hands in his own,
he repeated : “By God’s help, I will do it;” and so dis-
missed his chaplain, who thenceforward entertained no
doubt of his General’s purpose.’

The time for action now drew near; Monk’s troops
were assembled at Berwick ; after the dismissal or deser-
tion of all on whom he could not rely, his army consisted
of six regiments of infantry, each a thousand men strong,
and four of cavalry, incomplete in number and badly
mounted ; but all veteran and well-disciplined soldiers,

! Price’s Memoirs, pp. 70, 71.
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accustomed to the severe and active life of garrison-duty
in Scotland, impatient to return to the more abundant
plenty and milder climate of England, and full of confi-
dence in their General. Although Lambert’s army was
still superior in numbers to his own, Monk no longer
feared it; he was well aware of the mental anxiety and
material embarrassments to which it was a prey. At the
head of his staff, he personally reconnoitred the banks
of the Tweed, in search of the point at which it would
be most convenient for him to enter England, and the
best ford by which to cross the river. He selected Cold-
stream, a small, mean, and badly-built town, where therc
was an excellent ford, and in the neighbourhood of which
he could safely canton his troops. Here he established
his head-quarters, in a miserable hovel, where one room
served him both by day and by night, and which was so
scantily supplied with provisions that, on arriving there
in the evening, he could find nothing to eat, and walked
about for some time chewing tobacco, until his atten-
dants succeeded in obtaining for him a scanty supper.
His wife, who would never consent to remain at a dis-
tance from him, came to share this wretched habitation
with him, but he sent her back at once to Berwick,
whither he soon afterwards returned himself, in order to
receive the Scottish nobles and deputies, whom he had
appointed to meet him there. They arrived at Berwick
on the 13th of December, in large numbers and great
enthusiasm, declaring they were ready to supply him
with six thousand infantry and fifteen hundred horse, if,
in return, he would supply them with arms, and consent
to certain measures which would have placed the defence

-



b4 RICHARD CROMWELL AND

and internal police of Scotland once more in their hands.
After having consulted with his officers, Monk refused
both their offers of assistance and their demands. “If I
should draw all the men from my garrisons,” he said,
“I could quickly make my army equal to Lambert’s in
number ; but this I decline to do, being unwilling to put
Saotland out of English hands.” His army regarded the
Scotch with mingled feelings of disdain and distrust.
Monk gave them reason to anticipate a better future,
allowed them to send a messeriger to the King (without
however entering into any engagement that might com-
promise himself), obtained from them a sum of sixty
thousand pounds, and dismissed them, if not satisfied,
at least hopeful. He himself returned to Coldstream to
make final arrangements for his approaching expedition.?

News of his movements was awaited, in London, with
the most impatient perplexity ; and a thousand contradic-
tory reports were circulated every day regarding him ;
at one time, it was said that he had entered England and
was advancing without opposition ; at another time, it
was asserted that Lambert had attacked and defeated
him. These rumours were, generally speaking, favour-
able to Monk ; for, although it was not accurately known
what he was doing and intended to do, popular favour
was on his side in London. On the 12th of November,
shortly after publishing his first resolutions, he had writ-
ten to the Common Council of the City to explain his
purpose, and request their support; the Council, in

! Price’s Memoirs, pp. 66, 67 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 162-164,
175-179; Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 158-161, 166-169; Baker's
Chronicle, pp. 782-734; Bordeaux to Mazarin, December 8, 1659. Sce
APPENDIX.
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whose presence his letter had not been opened and read
until after considerable delay and an animated debate,
had not dared to send him any answer; but as the pro-
gress of events gave Monk the ascendency, the citizens
of London gradually recovered courage; nearly all the
friends of the ruling government were deprived of their
municipal functions by new elections; the City fell into
a state of continual ferment; petitions were signed, de-
manding the convocation of a free Parliament, and the
appointment of a new Protector; and the name of
Richard Cromwell was again put forward. The Com-
mittee of Safety prohibited all such petitions: the result
was that bands of apprentices paraded through the
streets, shouting, “ A free Parliament!” Colonel Hew-
son entered the City with his regiment; he was received
with hisses and hootings. He attempted to arrest some
of the ringleaders; they resisted; his soldiers fired,
and two young men were killed. This put an end to
processions ; but bitter speeches, insulting gestures, and
intentional slights were lavished by the populace on the
officers and soldiers, who, to avoid molestation, either
never went out singly, or appeared in the streets without
their uniform and arms. Associations were formed, in
London and the ‘provinces, to refuse the payment of all
taxes which had not been voted by Parliament. A plot
was laid for surprising the Tower ; it was discovered and
frustrated ; but its authors, with Sir Anthony Ashley
Cooper and Scott at their head, addressed and published
a letter to Fleetwood, on the 16th of December, in which
they boasted of their design. It was,” they said, “an
action so honest and honourable, as would not only have
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given check to the exorbitances of Wallingford House
and Whitehall, but was almost necessary to the preser-
vation of the peace and safety of this great city. . . .
But God,” they added, “ has, we trust, raised up a deli-
verer; having, by admirable Providence, put an oppor-
tunity and power into the hands of General Monk, the
ablest and most experienced commander of these nations,
who is warranted in his present actings by especial com-
mission and authority from the Council of State ; whereas
your power is only that of the sword.”?

Thus attacked and braved at their very doors, and
threatened by Haslerig, who was master of Portsmouth,
which had been placed in his hands by the governor, and
had thus become a rendezvous for all malecontents, the
general council of officers learned that a desertion of a
more serious character, that of thé fleet, was ere long
to be expected. Admiral Lawson, a gallant sailor and
honest Republican, unable to endure a doubtful position
for any length of time, had brought his ships into the
Thames, and declared that he would obey no authority
but that of the Parliament. Vane, who had great influ-
ence with him, was sent to him in all haste; but Vane
arrived too late at Gravesend : Ashley Cooper and Scott
had preceded him, and entirely possessed themselves of
the mind of the Admiral. They even refused to hold any
converse with Vane, and Lawson had great difficulty in
obtaining their consent to see him on board his ship.

! Monk's Letters, p. 45; Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 689-691; Cla-
rendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. pp. 624, 626, 627, 631; Ludlow’s Me-
moirs, p. 326; Thurloe’s State Papers, vol. vii. pp. 795, 797 ; Wingrove

Cooke's Life of the First Earl of Shaflesbury, vol. ii. pp. 218-215;
Bordeaux to Magarin, December 15, 1659. See APPENDIX.
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The conference was to no purpose; and Vane returned
to London to announce to his colleagues in the Com-
mittee of Safety that all hope of securing the support of
Lawson was at an end.!

Discord is a contagious disease which penetrates into
the inmost recesses of the body which it attacks, and
never ceases its work until it has dissolved even the most
substantial elements of which that body was composed.
The leaders of the dominant faction, both soldiers and civi-
lians, though engaged in the pursuit of the same objert,
and threatened by the same imminent ruin, would now
no longer agree on any point, and gave loose to their
dissensions with passionate earnestness. In the two comn-
mittees which had been appointed to prepare a constitu-
tion and an electoral law, Vane displayed more intracta-
bility than he had ever before manifested, and refused to
give up any one of his views in regard to State organiza-
tion or social reform. Various acts were laid beforc
Whitelocke, to whicH he was required to affix the Great
Seal ; as some of them contained articles contrary to the
established laws of the land, he declared that he could
not seal them without violating his oath. ‘Then we will
seal them ourselves,” said one of the officers who were
present. I am ready to deliver up the scal to you,”
replied Whitelocke; “it is there ready for you, if you
please to take it from me.” ‘It cannot be well,” de-
clared another officer, “ when in such a time as this a
lawyer is entrusted with so great a charge as the keeping

! Whitelocke’s Mcmorials, pp. 690, 691; Ludlow’s Memours, p. 326 ;
Baker's Chronicle, p. 735 ; Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 629;
Thurloe’s State Papers, vol. vii. p. 795 ; Bordeaux to Mazarin, Decem-
ber 18, 1659. See APPENDIX.
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of the Great Seal; and it were more proper for some
who have endured the dangers of the war, and adven-
tured their lives for the service of the Commonwealth, to
have the keeping of the Seal, than for a lawyer, who has
not undergone dangers as others have.” Whitelocke
protested against this, and reminded the officers of the
services rendered to the Commonwealth, and of the dan-
. gers incurred in its defence, by Ireton, St. John, Rey-
nolds, and other members of the disparaged class of
lawyers; and he referred to his own embassy to Queen
Christina as an instance of what he had himself done
for the State. The quarrel grew warm, and serious con-
sequences might have ensued, had not Flectwood inter-
posed, and reprimanded the Colonel who had cast such
undeserved reproaches on the men of law. Ludlow, who
was equally sincere in his attachment to the army and in
his respect for the Parliament, strove ineffectually to re-
concile Vane with Haslerig, and to persuade Desborough
to cease to accuse the Parliamentarans of having ruined
their common cause. No one cared any longer for the
common cause ; every one was guided merely by his own
personal ideas and feelings. There no longer existed a
government, or even a party; there was an assembly,
without any bond of union, of a number of men who
were irritated against each other, who distrusted one an-
other, and who dispersed at haphazard or came into col-
lision, like distracted blind men, soon to fall altogether
into the same abyss.!

Whitelocke, the least passionate and most judicious of

! Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 689, 690 ; Ludlow’s Momoirs, pp. 308,
809, 315; Bordeaux to Mazarin, December 22, 1659. See APPENDIX.
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them all, was under no illusion with regard to the nul-
lity of their power and the imminence of their danger.
On the 22nd of December, 1659, he went to see Fleet-
wood. “I am come,” he said, “to discourse freely with
you about our present condition, and what is fit to be
done in this exigency of our affairs. It is more than
evident that Monk’s design is to bring in the King, and
that without any terms for the Parliament party, where-
by all our lives and fortunes will be at the mercy of the
King and his party, who are sufficiently enraged against
us, and in need of repairing their broken fortunes. The
inclinations of the Presbyterian party generally, and of
many others, and of the City, and most of the Parlia-
ment’s old friends, are the same way ; and so are a great
part of the soldiery. The troops here are revolted from
us, so are those in the north under Lambert, and those
at Portsmouth and other places. Monk will easily delude
Haslerig and the rest of the old Parliament-men, and all
the incensed Lords and secluded members will be and
are active in this design. So that the coming in of the
King is unavoidable ; and (being that must be) I think
it will be more prudent for you and your friends to bring
him in, than to leave it to Monk. By this means, you
may make terms with the King for preservation of your-
self and your friends, and of that cause (in a good mea-
sure) in which we have been engaged; but, if it be left
to Monk, we, and all that has been done, will be left to
the danger of destruction. I therefore propound to you
to do one of these two things: either to give order for
all your forces to draw together, place yourself and your
friends at the head of them, and see what strength you
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can make that will stand by you ; and accordingly take
your resolution. If you find your strength but small,
as I fear you will, go to the Tower with the few you
have, and take possession of it ; and send to the Mayor
and Common Council of London to join with you to de-
clare for a free Parliament; which I think the city will
willingly do, and furnish you with money for your sol-
diers, which will increase their numbers.” Fleetwood
hereupon asked Whitelocke if he would go with him
into the field and to the Tower. Whitelocke said he
would. ““But what,” inquired Fleetwood, *is the other
way that you have to propound to me in this exigency ?”
‘It is this,” replied Whitelocke ; “that you should im-
mediately send away some person of trust to the King
at Breda, to offer him the services of yourself and your
friends for restoring him to his right, and that, upon such
terms as the King shall agree to; and for this purpose,
you must give instructions to the party whom you send
upon this affair.””  “ Would you be willing,” said Fleet-
wood, ““ to go yourself upon this employment ?” White-
locke answered that he would go, if Fleetwood thought
good to send him.

After some further conversation, Fleetwood seemed to
have made up his mind, and requested Whitelocke to
prepare to set out that same evening or early the next
morning, and in the meanwhile he would prepare his in-
structions. Whitelocke was going away, but in the ante-
chamber, he met Vane, Desborough, and Berry, coming
to speak with Fleetwood, who thereupon desired him to
wait a little. Whitelocke waited, suspecting what would
be the issue of their conversation. In about a quarter



THE DAWN OF THE RESTORATION, 61

of an hour, Fleetwood came to him in great excitement,
and said, “I cannot do it, I cannot do it.” ¢ And why
not ?”’ asked Whitelocke. “These gentlemen have re-
membered me,” answered Fleetwood ; “and it is true
that I am engaged not to do any such thing without my
Lord Lambert’s consent.” “ But Lambert,” urged White-
locke, ““is at too great a distance to give his consent to
this business, which must be done instantly.” Fleetwood
again said, “I cannot do it without him.” *Then you
will ruin yourself and your friends,” replicd Whitelocke.
“I cannot help it,” groaned Fleetwood; and so they
parted.!

Vane and Desborough were probably not very much
surprised by the proposition which Whitelocke had made
to Fleetwood, for it would appear that, cven among them-
selves, in the general council of officers, the recall of
the King had been suggested as the only means of re-
establishing peace throughout the nation. But this sug-
gestion had been immediately rejected.  Even if he
were fully determined to kecp his promises to us, we
could not,” it was said, ‘ trust to him for our safety, for
his Parliament, when assembled, would not ratify his pro-
mises, and we should be undone.” One practicable and
salutary expedient alone appeared to them to be left : and
that was to convoke a new Parliament on their own au-
thority, and to secure to themselves, while they were still
the masters, a majority, or at least a strong party of its
members. This they at once resolved to do; and on
the 16th of December, they published a proclamation,

1 Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 690, 691 ; Bordeaux to Brienne, De-
cember 29, 1659. See APPENDIX.
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announcing that Parliament would meet on the 24th of
January following. But how were the intervening six
weeks to be passed, with the country in such a state of
powerless and degraded anarchy? No authority, not
even military authority, could any longer obtain obedi-
ence, or indeed dare to lay claim to it. Bands of soldiers
roamed throughout the country, levying taxes, and harass-
ing and threatening friends as well as enemies. A party
of these insolent vagabonds came one day to the village,
and even to the manor-house, in which Colonel Hutchin-
son resided. He demanded of them by what authority
they had come ; pointing to their swords, they replied,
“There is our authority.” *This behaviour will bring
back the Stuarts,” said the Colonel. “ Never while I
wear that,” answered a soldier, laying his hand on his
sword. Mrs. Hutchinson complained to the Colonel of
their regiment, who wrote to her to disown all know-
ledge of their conduct, and to promise that they should
be punished. When she showed them the letter, they
tore it in pieces with jeers and laughter. A captain was
sent to inquire into their misdemeanours, but they made
light of him, even in Mrs. Hutchinson’s presence, and he
was forced to retire. Similar scenes occurred in every
place where troops were quartered, and took it into their
heads to disband. No one any longer exercised any real
command over the army, and the army was the uncon-
trolled master of the country.’

This state of things was soon regarded with disgust

! Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 319; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 690;
Hutchinson’s Memoirs, pp. 289-291 ; Bordeaux to Mazarin, December
256-29, 1669. See APPENDIX.
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and dissatisfaction by the soldiers themselves, at least by
those who formed the garrison of London, among whom
greater discipline had been maintained, and who had
gradually acquired some sympathy with the feelings of the
general population. They were filled with shame at hear-
ing the army and its leaders incessantly cursed. They too
instinctively felt that a Parliament was necessary for the
government of their country. But what need had they
to wait for the assembling of the Parliament that had
been promised them? They had one ready at hand,
which they had long been accustomed to obey, and
which had long governed with success. It had evidently
been a mistake and a crime to expel that Parliament, for
on two occasions, that act of violence had turned to the
prejudice of its perpetrators. The news which arrived
from every quarter, from the fleet, from Lambert’s army,
from the regiments that had been sent to recapture
Portsmouth, announced that the same opinion had been,
or was on the point of being, proclaimed and adopted
everywhere. The Parliamentarians who were then in
London deemed that the auspicious moment had arrived;
Scott and some other members of the old Council of
State met at the house of the Speaker Lenthall, and in
concert with him, resuming the power which no rival
now disputed with them, ordered the troops to assemble
in Lincoln’s Inn Fields, where they were passed in re-
view by Colonels Alured and Okey, both of whom were
entirely devoted to the cause of the Parliament. When
the review was over, the troops put themselves in order
of march ; and, on arriving in Chancery Lane, they halt-
ed in front of the house of the Speaker, whom they saluted
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with loud cheers. Lenthall came out into the street, and,
amid the joyous acclamations of the soldiers, received
from the assembled officers confessions of their repent-
ance, and promises that they would thenceforward re-
main constantly faithful to the Parliament. Thus de-
serted by their army, the Generals abdicated at once,
each of them making terms for himself and in his own
way, according to the ply of his character or the nature
of his apprehensions. Desborough left London in all
haste, with the intention of seeking refuge in Lambert’s
camp. Fleetwood, with contrite hecart, recognizing the
justice of God, “who,” he said, “ has spit in our faces,”
lost no time in sending the keys of the Housc of Com-
mons to Lenthall, with a message that the guards had
been withdrawn, and that the members might return
thither whencver they pleased. Miller, the Governor of
the Tower, likewise sent in his submission to the Speaker,
and declared himself ready to reccive his orders. Lent-
hall and his colleagues went into the City and conferred
with the Lord Mayor and Common Council ; and on the
evening of the 26th of December, after a preliminary
meeting at Whitehall, about forty members, with Lent-
hall at their head, proceeded to Westminster on foot
and by torchlight, and re-entered their House, amid the
applause of the scattered groups of soldiers whom they
encountered on their way.!

As on their first return to the same place of assembly,
on the previous 7th of May, so on this second occasion

! Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 690, 691 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 341 ;
Old Parliamentary History, vol. xxii. p. 28; Clarendon’s State Papers,
vol. iii. pp. 637, 647 ; Bordeaux to Mazarin, January 5, 1660. See
APPENDIX.
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of their restoration, they began their proceedings with an
act of tyranny. Twenty-three of the members who had
been excluded in 1648 (and among them the indomitable
Prynne), again presented themselves to assert their right
and resume their seats in the House. They were again
refused admittance. They remained about the door, and
insisted on being allowed to enter. Colonel Alured, who
was in command of the guard, embarrassed by the act of
iniquity to which he was thus made a party, allowed
them to come into the lobby, and acted as intermediary
in the parley which ensued between them and the Housc.
After they had waited an hour, he reported to them that,
in answer to their application, the House had voted that
“on the 5th of January, it would take the business of
the absent members into consideration.” On receiving
this hypocritical affront, the twenty-three presert but ex-
cluded members withdrew, resolved to prove themselves
as jealous of their dignity as of their rights.!

Meanwhile Lambert at Newcastle, Monk at Coldstream,
and Fairfax at Nun-Appleton, were watching each other
with mutual attention, and making preparations for at-
tack. As he suffered severely from the stone and from
gout, and was rarely able to mount on horseback, Fairfax
was regarded, by those who did not know him, as a
worn-out old man, incapable of any active undertaking :
“ his soul,” it was said, “ now only serves as salt to keep
his body from putrefaction.” His old companions in
arms during the civil war, however, who had become his
opponents under the Commonwealth, judged hix, very
differently : they well remembered his warlike ardour,

! Old Parliamentary History, xxii. pp. 29-83.
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and the great ascendency which he exercised over his
soldiers; and Colonel Robert Lilburne, who had been
appointed by Lambert to watch his movements, always
kept some squadrons in readiness to march to any place
at which he might appear. Finding himself thus me-
naced, Fairfax resolved to anticipate the day which he
had announced to Monk for his promised rising; and
getting into his carriage, he travelled through the county
of York, sending messengers in every direction, assem-
bling his friends, and even endeavouring to draw over to
his side some of Lambert’s officers, with whom he had
continued to maintain friendly relations. A number of
gentlemen came to join him with their scrvants, untrained
and badly armed. “1 am beholden,” said Fairfax, “to
thesc gentlemen that come so willingly to venture their
lives on this occasion, but it troubles me that I should
bring them into this danger, for we have to do with old
soldiers. If I had but such a troop of horse as I had at
the beginning of the war, I could march with them where
I pleased.” He soon received more effective reinforce-
ments; several of Lambert’s officers came over to him
with their companies. As he drew near to York, the Irish
brigade, which was still incorporated in the Republican
army, but which had placed itself in a sort of neutral posi-
tion between Lambert and Monk, sent three of its leaders
to him, to offer to join him if he would pledge himself to
reject every proposition for the restoration of monarchical
government. Fairfax indignantly tore up the paper which
they presented to him, and mounting his horse in spite
of his gout, placed himself at the head of his troops, and
prepared for battle. * Then he began to be another man,”
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said one of those who accompanied him; *his motions
were so quick, his eyes so sparkling, he gave the word of
command so like a General, that we took heart, and could
readily have charged with him.” No engagement how-
ever took place; the Cavaliers, who were numerous in
York, opened the gates of the city to Fairfax and his
army ; and notwithstanding the approach of Lambert,
who marched in all haste from Newcastle, a Royalist
movement, in which the name of the King was not ut-
tered, spread rapidly throughout the county.!

The news of the precipitate insurrection of Fairfax, and
of the restoration of the Long Parliament, reached Monk
simultaneously at Coldstream. The latter piece of intel-
ligence was not altogether unexpected by him; three
days before, he had received a letter from Lenthall, which
led him to anticipate it. Under other circumstances, he
might have deemed it prudent to await the orders of that
civil power, whose servant he had proclaimed himself to
be, and which had now resumed its authority; but the
necessity of advancing to support Fairfax, who was threat-
ened in York by Lambert’s army, admitted neither of
douht nor delay; and Monk lost no time in taking his
measures for the purpose. He immediately issued orders
to his troops to preparc to march. On the 1st of January,
1660, under a brilliant sun though the weather was very
cold, his infantry passed the Tweed ; the cavalry, com-
manded by Monk himself, crossed on the day after ; and
on the same evening, the entire Scottish army, general

' ! Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 637; Bell's Fairfax Corres-

pondence, vol. ii. pp. 162, 164167 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 73; Gumble’s
Life of Monk, p. 206.
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and soldiers, made their first halt on English soil, at
Wooler in Northumberland.!

There, in the middle of the night, Monk received
letters from the restored Long Parliament, which would
have confirmed him, had there been any need, in the
resolution which he had already adopted and carried
partially into execution. The Parliament thanked him
briefly and coldly for his services, but made him no
promises, and did not request him to come to London.
He merely learned that the same messenger, on his way
through Newcastle, had left orders for Lambert’s troops
to disperse, and return to their various quarters. No
similar order had been sent to his own army. Monk
had no difficulty in understanding that the Parliament
had no confidence in him, but did not dare to offend
him. He immediatcly assembled his officers, who left
their beds in great ill-humour, and came through the
snow-strewn streets, to hear a letter read, ““ which,” says
one of them, *“ was as cold as the night itself.” On the
following morning, the troops were paraded, and the letter
was read at the head of each regiment; the soldiers ex-
claimed that they would “ go up to London and see the
Parliament sitting :” and Monk gave orders that they
should continue their march without delay.?

As he advanced, he was met on all sides with favour-
able demonstrations. At Morpeth, the High Sheriff and

1 Price’s Memoirs, pp. 75, 76 ; Gumble's Life of Monk, pp. 187-192 ;
Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 179, 180 ; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 738; Bor-
deaux to Mazarin, January 8, 1660. See APPENDIX.

? Gumble's Life of Monk, pp. 196, 197 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 76;
Skinper’s Life of Monk, p. 180; Baker's Chronicle, pp. 738, 739 ; Com-
mons’ Journals, vol. vii. p. 797.
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leading gentry of Northumberland came to congratulate
him. The magistrates of Newcastle sent to invite him
to pay a speedy visit to their town. At the same time,
he received letters from the Lord Mayor and Common
Council of London, dated on the 29th December, 1659,
—a tardy answer to the letter which he had written to
them six weeks previously, but full of apologies for the
delay, and expressing the warmest approbation of all that
he was saying and doing in defence of the rights of the
Parliament and of the liberties of the nation. On arriving
at Newcastle, on the 15th January, 1660, he found that
Lambert’s army was already disbanded, and that its
various corps were on their march for their respective
cantonments. Lambert had retired precipitately to a
little country-house ; he had been abandoned by all, both
officers and soldiers, who had eagerly made their sub-
mission to the Parliament, without any stipulations for
the safety of their General. —Desborough himself had
written to the House to acknowledge his error, and to
promise future fidelity. Certain that he would now
meet with no resistance, Monk halted for three days at
Newcastle, and wrote thence to the City of London, to
thank the Corporation for their sympathy, and to express
his satisfaction at finding that his conduct was so fully
in accordance with their views: ¢ And I promise you,”
he added, “ for the army under my command, that they
are resolved, by the assistance of God, to stand by and
maintain the present Parliament, as it sate on the 11th
of October, from which we received our commissions;
and we do hope that you that have been so eminently
instrumental in restoring it, will heartily concur with us
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therein. We shall to the utmost of our power defend the
freedom of successive Parliaments, and the spiritual and
civil liberties of the people in these nations; and shall
encourage, in our stations, godly and learned ministers ;
and shall continue faithful in this good cause, that the
nations may be stablished in a free Commonwealth, and
the army kept in due obedience to the civil authority.””

At the same time, Monk despatched his chaplain-
Gumble to London, with letters, under his hand, to the
Speaker of the House, to the Council of State, and to the
Commissioners appointed for the government of the army,
and also with a copy of his letter to the City, which, in
order to obviate all suspicion, he had determined to com-
municate to the Parliament. His past life and opinions,
his intimacy with Scott, and his familiarity with all the
intrigues and movements of the Revolution, rendered
Gumble a fit person to inspire the Parliamentary leaders
with confidence, and to ascertain, for the information of
his patron, their precise position and plans. And as he
was to pass through York on his way to the metropolis,
Monk further entrusted him with a letter for Fairfax,
and with verbal instructions for Dr. Bowles ; for the two
chaplains were the active confidants of their Generals.2

Five days afterwards, on the 11th of January, 1660,
Monk himself arrived at York, and dined privately at
Nun-Appleton with Fairfax, who was confined to his
room by gout. On his return to the city one evening,
Monk had a conversation with Pr. Bowles, of so ani-

! Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 181-183; Price’s Memoirs, p. 65;
Monk’s Letters, pp. 45-49 ; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 692.

2 Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 207-209; Skinner’s Life of Monk, p.
184. .
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mated a character that it continued until past midnight.
When Bowles had taken his leave, Monk sent for his
chaplain Price, and said to him: “ What do you think ?
Mr. Bowles has pressed me very hard to stay here, and
declare for the King, assuring me that I shall have great
assistance.” “ And have you made any such promise?”’
inquired Price eagerly. “No truly,” answered Monk,
“I have not; or at least, I have not yet.” Both now
remained silent for some time, until at last Price re-
marked: * After the famous Gustavus was slain, I re-
member to have heard this passage in the story of his
life, that when he entered Gerr;lany, he said, ¢ That if his
shirt knew what he intended to do, he would tear it from
his back and burnit.’” Wherefore I entreat you to sleep
between this and the walls of London; and when you
come within them, then to open your eyes, and consider
what you have to do.” Monk had no need of Price’s
advice, to lead him to pursue a policy of silence and dis-
simulation ; he was daily becoming more taciturn and
impenetrable. On being informed that an officer had
said, “ This Monk will at last bring in Charles Stuart;”
he struck him publicly with his cane, and threatened any
one who should repeat the calumny with the same or a
worse chastisement.!

These positive demonstrations, and this obstinate re-
serve, filled the Royalists with doubt and disquietude.
In their letters to the King and to Hyde, they invariably
spoke of Monk as an enigma which they utterly despaired
of being able to resolve. Sometimes, they were full of

! Bell’s Fairfax Correspondence, vol. ii. pp. 168, 192; Price’s Me-
moirs, pp. 79-81.
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confidence and hope. *No man,” wrote Barwick to the
King, on the 5th of December, 1659, “can think Monk
so foolish as to engage so deeply as he hath done, upon
8o rotten an interest as the Rump of a Parliament.” This
confidence occasionally bordered on enthusiasin. * His
pretensions are dark,” wrote Broderick to Hyde, on the
16th of December, “ his discourses ambiguous, his com-
plaints thus: ‘I, of all Englishmen employed by the
Commonwealth, shall prove most fortunate or unfor-
tunate. Richard Cromwell forsook himself, else had I
never failed my promise to his father, or regard to his
memory. Flectwood’s folly, Lambert’s treachery and
ambition, are neither of them to be endured. The dis-
union of what they scornfully call the Rump, is not to
be depended on. I thercfore have adventured to stand
alone in the gap. The Scots 1 dare not trust in any
measure, were I not enforced by necessity. Counsellor
I have none to rely on, many of my officers have been
false, and that all the rest will prove true, is too much
gaiety to hope. But religion, law, liberty, and my own
fame are at stake ; I will go on, and leave the event to
God.’” A few weeks later, on the 13th of January,
the same Broderick wrote: ““ Monk’s designs are so un-
known, it is vanity to guess at them. 'T'wo letters arrived
from his quarters near York this morning to Charles
Howard in cipher, from men of good judgment and un-
questionable credit. I read them both, and find their
conjectures of his designs and inclinations totally differ-
ent; what then shall we say at this distance?”’ “I can
say little more of him,” wrote Mordaunt to the King, on
the 16th of January, “but that he is a black Monk, and
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I cannot see through him. Yet because the heart of man
is deceitful, I have so far prevailed with the citizens and
some heads of the secluded members, as to prepare to op-
pose this clouded soldier, in case he prove other than what
they would have him.” And, actuated by the general
anxiety of his party, Rumbold, one of Hyde’s most
trusted correspondents, thus wrote to him, on the 16th
of December: ¢ His Majesty might do well to get a
message sent from the King of France to Monk, the
better to dispose him ; and this is the opinion of many of
the nobility.”? .

The Republicans, who had now become the masters,
were as uncertain and even more ill at ease with regard
to Monk than the Royalists themselves ; for their uncer-
tainty tended towards fear, and not towards hope. From
the very outset, their attitude towards him was embar-
rassed, and characterized at once by distrust and timidity.
When they voted thanks to him, on the 27th and 29th
of December, they were careful to bestow the same ex-
pressions of gratitude on Admiral Lawson, Colonel Mor-
ley, and Sir Arthur Haslerig. Lawson, on coming to
London, was introduced into thc House on the 9th of
January, and formally complimented by the Speaker. All
that Monk had done in the Scottish army, in reference to
the dismissal or promotion of his officers, was confirmed ;
but at the same time, an amnesty was granted to the
officers of Lambert’s army, and they were treated with
favour. On the 80th of December, Monk and Fairfax
were appointed members of the Council of State; but

! Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. pp. 621-623, 628, 645, 649, 652,
630; Bordeaux to Mazarin, January 12, 1659. See APPENDIX.
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the composition of that body was such, that their in-
fluence in it could not excite the least apprehension. No
desire had been expressed to Monk, and indeed the Par-
liament was far from feeling any desire, that he should
come to London; but when it became known that he
was continuing his march, an invitation was at once sent
to him to proceed thither. His chaplain Gumble, as
soon as he arrived in the metropolis, was summoned be-
fore the House,' and well treated by it: he was ques-
tioned with curiosity, and listened to with complaisance ;
a present of a hundred pounds sterling was voted to him,
and the prospect of a good benefice was held out to him.
But when he was sent before the Council of State, in
order to enter into the confidential details of his mission,
the Council kept him waiting until midnight without
giving him audience ; and on the next day, a few mem-
bers only met, “rather to examine him,” he says, “ than
to hear any proposals from him.” They expressed to
him their great apprehension that ““ General Monk was
for the King;” and proposed that he should go with
them (o the house of General Fleetwood. Gumble re-
plied that, as Fleetwood had been constantly hostile to
the Scottish army of which he was the envoy, he could
not accede to this proposition; but that, in presence of
the whole Council of State, he would be ready to enter
into full explanations. This opportunity however was not
allowed him.? '

An intelligent observer, and set on his guard by the

1 On the 12th of January, 1660.

2 Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. pp. 797, 798, 806, 800-802, 800, 801,
804, 808, 820 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 209-221 ; Ludlow’s Me-
moirs, p. 342 ; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 693.
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difficulties which he encountered, Gumble discharged his
mission with firmness, dexterity, and moderation. Monk
had instructed him to convey to the Parliament, in his
name, certain counsels with regard to the choice of State
functionaries both civil and military, to religious affairs,
and to the administration of Scotland, which were good
in themselves, and gave an air of sincerity as well as of
authority to their sender. Gumble repeated the recom-
mendations of his General to the House, without cither
exaggeration or diminution. With the principal lawyers
in the Parliament, with several of the secluded members,
and with the most important men in the City, he had
private conversations, at which he ascertained their views,
and discreetly intimated to them so much of his patron’s
intentions as he was willing to make known. Eager to
inform him of what he had seen, he wrote to him by a
sure hand : “Do not trust to those persons with whom
you correspond ; in the times of danger, to provide se-
curity for themselves, many have kept a secret corre-
spondence with your enemies. The prevailing and go-
verning influence in the Parliament is reduced into the
hands of a few and inconsiderable persons,—either hare-
brained and hot-headed fools, or obscure and disregarded
knaves. Those who had been courted into Oliver’s ser-
vice, or who had joined with the Committee of Safety,
are all looked upon with scorn, as apostates and revolters
from the good old cause. Some of the Parliament are
so peremptorily persuaded that you are inclined to the
King, that they would willingly set Lambert at the head
of their army again, to balance you. . . . The Rump
purposes to forfeit the estates of all the nobility and
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gentry who confederated together in Sir George Booth’s
engagement. I have seen a list of the best-estated men
in England, whom they are resolved to undo. This is
no small advantage to your proceedings ; for thereby you
are sure of great assistance. . . . Besides, these scraps
of a Parliament are much divided among themselves. . . .
But you must keep your forces near you, or else you are
in great danger.” After employing four days thus dili-
gently in pursuing the object of his mission, Gumble
quietly left London, and hastened to rejoin his patron.’
There was no exaggeration in the picture which he had
drawn of the miserable dissensions and foolish influences
to which the Parliament, though scarcely re-established,
had lost no time in subjecting itself. No domination is
more blind and intractable than that of men of little
minds, who are bold, malevolent and sincere, and who
have at once a cause to defend and injuries to avenge.
Such were the men who, among the Republican party,
had just been replaced in possession of power; they
trinmphed with heedless arrogance, and were eager to
punish those of their old friends who had lately deserted
them. Haslerig made his first appearance in the House
in his riding dress, and looked “ very jocund and high.”
Scott declared that Whitelocke ought to be hanged, with
the Great Seal round his neck. Whitelocke in alarm
went to the Speaker, to ask him whether he would ad-
vise him to show himself in the House. “I fear,” he
said, “ that some seeing me there, might move against
me, and get me sent to prison.” “I do not think,”
answered Lenthall, that any such thing will be moved,
! Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp. 215-219.
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but they will take it as an owning of their authority, if
you sit with them.” Whitelocke went to the House, but
he met with so unfavourable a reception, and there was
so much said about the necessity of sending him to the
Tower, that he left London, and retired_to a friend’s
house in the country, giving his wife instructions to
burn his papers, and to deliver up the Great Seal to the
Speaker. Vane was summoned before the House, and
interrogated as to what he had done since the expulsion
of the Parliament ; he replied, without equivocation, that
he had sided with the army, believing that he would
thereby best promote the interests of the Commonwealth ;
it was voted® that he should cease to be a member of the
House, and retire to his residence at Raby, there to await
the pleasure of the Parliament. Ludlow, who had re-
turned to Ireland to resume his military command, was
recalled,? and required to prepare his answer to a charge
of high treason. Sydenham was expelled the House;
Salloway was suspended,® and sent to the Tower. But
four days afterwards, in consequence of his protestations
of repentance, this latter vote was rescinded, and Sal-
loway was permitted to retire into the country. Lambert
and eight other General officcrs received orders* to leave
London, and proceed to certain remote places which had
been fixed upon for their residence. The whole conduct
of the Parliament towards the vanquished section of the
Republican party, was a ridiculous mixture of violent
measures, vexatious annoyances, and indulgent retracta-
tions, dictated by the alternations of malice and favour,
alarm and confidence, which, from day to day, and almost

1 On the 9th of January, 1660. 3 On the 17th of January, 1660.
2 On the 19th of January, 1660. ¢ On the 14th of January, 1660.
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from hour to hour, followed in quick succession in the
ardent but weak minds of the victorious party, as they
were swayed in turn by their passions or by their per-
plexities.? '

They would willingly have vented their anger and
dealt their blows on the Royalists ; but the Royalists
gave them no pretext for doing so. Those of ardent
temperament, Mordaunt for instance, wrote to the King?
that the moment for action had arrived, that his affairs
were fast ripening, and would no longer admit of the
ordinary procrastination of his councils; but at the same
time they deplored the languor, the want of devotedness
and energy, which characterized their party. ¢ Some
very brave friends of mine are of opinion,” wrote Brode-
rick to Hyde, on the 21st of December, 1659, “ that
the native courage of the kingdom is departed from the
gentlemen to the common people. . . . Here a man of
ten thousand pounds a year will not give ten pounds to-
wards a messenger, yet from day to day with vehement
impatience demands news, protests zeal, and calls Hea-
ven to witness his loyal intentions. ‘Why,” he says,
‘are not three or four regiments bought off? Is not
gold their god? Is not silver the good old cause?
How easily might you, amongst your numerous kindred
and acquaintance, raise what you please for the purpose.’
Yet will each man excuse himself (from contributing)
upon the ground of his present necessities.” In the
City of London, Royalist plots and movements were still

! Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. pp. 806, 815, 816, 813-814, 818, 812;
‘Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 691-694 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 340 ; Old
Parliamentary History, vol. xxii. p. 52 ; Bordeaux to Maszarin, January

15, 1660. See APPENDIX.
2 On the 11th of December, 1659.
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talked of ; and the King sent thither special and urgent
instructions. The citizens promised to rise in arms if
Monk would declare himself ; and they collected fifteen
thousand pounds among themselves, on condition that
the money should be employed, within two days, for the
purpose of securing adherents in the army. “But all
their courage,” wrote Broderick to Hyde, on the 13th of
January, “amounts to no more than libels, ballads, and
ropes hung at Ireton’s and Tichbourne’s doors, with
other such little petulances. Such a Common Council
hath not been these hundred years in all men’s equal
esteem, but alas! they move slow and timorously. The
Mayor saith: ‘ Who would not admit Charles Stuart,
could men be assured of indemnity?’ the same saith St.
John, and many others. Ask them, ¢ What indemnity ?’
they are amazed, nor can they readily answer.” But
notwithstanding these complaints on the part of its
leaders, and although its own action counted almost for
nothing, the hopes and chances of the Royalist party
went on visibly increasing. Justly alarmed at its pro-
gress, Scott and Haslerig employed their police with the
utmost activity and vigour to arrest it; but their action,
also, was insignificant and futile; a few letters were in-
tercepted ; some remittances of money, intended for the
King, were seized ; but these measures were insufficient
to stop the flood-tide which was raising the Royalists
from their long depression, or to rally and revive the
shattered and fainting Republican party.?

! On the 12th and 14th of January, 1660.

2 Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. pp. 627, 632, 642-644, 645, 646,
648, 649-652; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 694; Commons’ Journals,
vol. vii. p. 797.
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The leaders however were desirous of making a dis-
play of power against their enemies, and of securing to
themselves some guarantees of future stability. Not
satisfied with having decreed, on the 2nd of January,
that no one should sit in the Council of State, without
solemnly swearing that he did “renounce the pretended
title or titles of Charles Stuart, and the whole line of the
late King James, and of every other person, as a single
person, to the crown or government of the nations of
England, Scotland, and Ireland;” they proposed, on the
8rd of January, that the same oath should be imposed
on every actual and future member of the Parliament.
To their great surprise, this bill met with very strong
opposition, even among their own ranks; among others
Colonel Hutchinson, the most honest of the regicides,
for he was the one who took least care of his own per-
sonal position, strenuously objected to the proposition.
“The oaths that were formerly imposed,” he said, * have
but multiplied the sins of the nation by perjuries. Sir
Arthur Haslerig and others, in Oliver Cromwell’s time,
when they came into the House, swore on their entrance
they would make no attempt to change the government.
But, as soon as ever they were entered, they laboured
to throw it down.” [Either from conscientiousness or
prudence, Hutchinson’s scruples found favour; on the
first reading, the bill was carried only by a majority of
twenty-four votes against fifteen; and after six weeks of
discussion and delay, the question was settled by the
adoption® of a simple oath of fidelity to the Common-
wealth, without any mention of Charles Stuart, or any

! On the 14th and 16th of February, 1660.
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engagement against him, his family, or his descendants.
Even in the Council of State, several members, among
others Oliver St. John and Colonels Morley and Fagg,
abstained from taking their seats, rather than take the
anti-monarchical oath whicl'was required of them.!
Every incident which rendered the Republican leaders
more conscious of their weakness, increased Monk’s im-
portance in their eyes; and the distrust with which they
had at first regarded him was soon succeeded by the
most assiduous attention. Rumour asserted that, in con-
cert with Fairfax, he was establishing himself at York,
with the intention of declaring ®penly for the King.
Gumble had just been sent away under a full conviction
of the ill-feeling of the House towards his patron; and
it was therefore desirable to neutralize the unfavourable
impression which his reports might produce. On the
16th of January, it was voted that a landed estate of the
annual value of one thousand pounds should be settled
on Monk and his heirs for ever. A letter was prepared
in which the Parliament expressed to him its deep sense
of the great services he had rendered his country, con-
gratulated itself on learning that he was on his march
to London, in accordance with its desire, and promised
him a speedy supply of inoney for the payment of his
troops.? Finally, it was resolved that two members, Scott
and Robinson, should be sent to him with these marks
of the gratitude of the House, and should accompany

! Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. pp. 801, 803, 804, 805, 806, 843, 844 ;
Baker’s Chronicle, pp. 739, 740 ; Hutchinson’s Memoirs, pp. 393, 394 ;
Bordeaux {0 Mazarin, January 26, 1660. See APPENDIX.

? On the 12th of January, 1660. .
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him during the remainder of his journey. All, whether
friends or enemies of Monk, willingly agreed to this mea-
sure ; his enemies, while thus loading him with honours,
placed two inflexible spies about his person ; his friends
were glad to get rid of two violent fanatics, who, they
felt, would be far less formidable in Monk’s camp than
in the Parliament.!

On the same day that these resolutions were voted,
Monk left York, and resumed his march towards Lon-
don; for he was too judicious not to he aware that,
though at York he might recommence the civil war, it
was in London alone that he could put an end to the ex-
istifig anarchy. In order to prove satisfactorily that he
had no intention to impose laws on the Parliament by
means of armed force, and also with a view to secure his
rear in case he should find it necessary to fall back again
on the north, on his departure from York, he sent Major-
General Morgan into Scotland with two regiments, left
a third at York under the command of Colonel Fairfax,
a nephew of General Fairfax, and kept with himself
only four regiments of infantry and three of cavalry,in
all five thousand eight hundred men. But they were
troops on which he could rely, both officers and soldiers,
and Monk could do with them what he pleased ; since
his entrance into England, he had prohibited all those
meetings and discussions, all that interference of the
army in his resolutions and proceedings, which he had
tolerated in Scotland, when he found them necessary in

! Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. pp. 813, 808 ; Whitelocke’s Memorials,
p. 693; Skinner’s Life of Monk, p. 191 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk, p.
224; Old Parliamenfary History, vol. xxii. p. 53.
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order to sound and influence the minds of his men :
military discipline and obedience had now taken the
place of all appearance of popular movement ; and amid
the acclamations of the friendly or curious crowd who
thronged their line of march, amid the sound of the bells
which rang out their welcome to every town, this little
army advanced, orderly and silently, trusting in their
leader, and following him without caring to inquire
whither he was leading them.!

At Mansfield Monk was rejoined by Gumble, and at
Nottingham by Clarges,? both of whom brought him
accurate information with regard to the state of the me-
tropolis, and the difficulties which awaited him there.
Clarges, by means of his acquaintance with the officers,
and particularly with Quartermaster-General Butler, had
procured a complete list of the army which the Parlia-
ment had in London or its immediate neighbourhood,
and of the cantonments in which it was quartered. It
consisted of eight thousand infantry and two thousand
horse, and consequently was very superior in number to
the force under Monk’s command ; and among the thir-
teen colonels, eight of infantry and five of cavalry, who
commanded the regiments, there were only three, Ashley
Cooper, Morley, and Fagg, from whom Monk could hope
for any support ; all the others were his certain oppo-
nents, for they were devotedly attached to the revolu-
tionary Commonwealth, no matter whether it had at its
head Lambert or Haslerig, the General Council of Of-

! Baker's Chronicle, p. 740 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 82; Skinner’s Life
of Monk, p. 190; Guizot’s Etude Historique sur Monk, p. 104; Gum-
ble'’s Life of Monk, pp. 202, 221.

2 On the 18th and 19th of January, 1660.
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ficers or the Parliament. “ Except you can get all these
horse and foot out of London,” said Clarges to Monk,
“ and disperse them into several quarters, you can never
expect to do any good for your country. Your best way
will be to write a letter to the Parliament to this purpose
—that you conceive it not for their service that those
soldiers now in London, lately in rebellion against them,
should mingle with your approved faithful regiments, till
their officers have by discipline reduced them to a more
assured obedience.” Monk adopted this suggestion. He
had some doubt whether his troops alone would be suf-
ficient for the maintenance of order in London, and for
doing full duty as its garrison; but a detailed investiga-
tion of the requirements of this service set his mind at
ease on this point. It was decided, in his little council,
that a letter should be prepared, requesting the Parlia-
ment to send away the troops then quartered in London ;
but at the same time it was determined that this letter
should not be sent until they were near the capital, and
that, in the meanwhile, the strictest silence should be
kept on the subject.!

Clarges and Gumble also conferred with Monk on an-
other difficulty, which, in his eyes, was of far less impor-
tance. He had been appointed a member of the Coun-
cil of State, and that Council was divided ; some of its
members had taken, and some had refused to take, the
oath abjuring the Stuarts and monarchy. Monk would
assuredly be called upon to take this oath ; in that case,
what did he intend to do? On which side would he
range himself 7 Would he run the risk of offending his

! Baker’s Chronicle, pp. 740, 741.
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friends by taking the oath, or would he prefer to re-
double the distrust of his enemies by refusing it? And
in the meanwhile, what answer would he give to Scott
and Robinson, who would soon be with him, and would
not fail to speak to him about it ? I have a plain and
fair answer to make to them,” said Monk ; *that I hear
many men of undoubted integrity have refused the oath,
and till I come to London to hear the reasons on both
sides, I cannot with prudence resolve upon it.””?

Two days after this conversation, as he drew near to
Leicester, Monk saw Scott and Robinson coming to meet
him ; they had arrived in the town on the previous even-
ing, and took this opportunity of showing their respect
to him. He immediately dismounted from his horse,
was profuse in his expressions of thanks, ordered his
troops to fire several volleys in their honour, got into
their carriage, made his entrance into the town in their
company, and supped with them that evening in their
lodging, thus parading before the eyes of all his respect
for them and for the Parliament of which they were the
delegates. On the same day, and doubtless at their in-
stigation, he did another act of far graver importance.
Some Devonshire gentlemen, among whom were several
of his relations and fricnds, had recently addressed to
the Parliament a petition demanding the re-admission of
the members who had been excluded in 1648. Monk
wrote seriously to remonstrate with them on this proceed-
ing. “ Before these unhappy wars,” he said, “ the govern-
ment of these nations was monarchical, both in Church
and State. These wars have given birth and growth to

! Baker’s Chronicle, p. 742.
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several interests, both in Church and State, heretofore
not known, though now upon many accounts very con-
siderable; as the Presbyterians, Independents, Anabap-
tists, and Sectaries of all sorts, as to ecclesiastics, and
the purchasers of the King’s, Queen’s, Princes’, Bishops’,
Deans’ and Chapters’, and all other forfeited estates, and
all those engaged in these wars against the King, as to
civils. . . . It may, as I think, be taken for granted,
that no government can be either good, peaceable, or
lasting to these nations, that doth not rationally include
and comprehend the security and preservation of all the
aforesaid interests, both civil and spiritual: I mean so
far as, by the word of God, they are warranted to be
protected and preserved. If this be so, then that go-
vernment, under which we formerly were, both in Church
and State, namely, Monarchy, cannot possibly be admit-
ted for the future in these nations, because its support is
taken away, and because it is exclusive of all the former
interests, both civil and spiritual ; all of them being in-
compatible with monarchical uniformity. That govern-
ment, then, that is most able to comprehend and protect
all interests as aforesaid, must needs be Republic.

“ Wherefore, to me it is no small doubt, if to admit of
the members secluded in 1648, were not to obstruct our
peace and continue our war, rather than establish the one
and end the other; in that very many of those members
assert the monarchical interest, together with the abo-
lition of all laws made since their seclusion; . . . the
dangerous consequences whereof I do infinitely dread,
and submit to your prudent considerations; and the
rather, seeing the army also will never endure it.
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“ Let me now entreat you to consider, whether it were
not better to desist from your petition, and submit to the
proceedings of this Parliament, who have resolved to fill
up their House, determine their sitting, and prepare a
way for future successions of Parliament. . . . By which
means they may, through God’s mercy and all our pa-
tiences, establish such a government in the way of a
Commonwealth as may be comprehensive of all interests,
both civil and spiritual. . . . But if, by your impatiences,
they be obstructed, our peace will be so much the longer
a stranger to us, and we thereby a prey to ourselves and
all foreign enemies.”!

‘When this letter was written, Scott and Robinson be-
lieved themselves conquerors ; if Monk was duping them,
he was dishonoured ; if he was sincere, the Common-
wealth was saved. They sent the Parliament a copy of
his letter in all haste, and at the same time were loud in
their praises of his conduct towards them, of his modest
demeanour, of the discipline of his army, and of the re-
spect which he manifested on every occasion for the civil
power. The satisfaction of the Parliament equalled that
of its envoys, and it lost no time in giving Monk sub-
stantial proofs of its favour. A bill was passed, on the
26th of January, formally approving and legalizing all
that he had done of late; the office of Custos Rotulo-
rum of the County of Devon was conferred upon him ;
and the commission of Commander-in-chief, which, in
the month of November, and before the restoration of

! Monk’s Letters, pp. 50-52; Old Parliamentary History, vol. xxii.
pp. 68-70; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 740; Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 193,
194.
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the Parliament to power, a few members of the Council
of State had secretly sent to him in Scotland, was con-
firmed. It was also resolved that the first fellowship
which should fall vacant in Eton College should be be-
stowed on his chaplain Gumble. Gumble was probably
the author of the letter which had caused the Parliament
such great delight, and had won Monk so many favours.!

But Monk was soon called upon to give explanations
otherwise than by letters and from a distance : as he ad-
vanced through the country, he was daily pressed more
earnestly and closely. In all the counties, and in all the
towns through which he passed, the population flocked
to meet him; the country gentlemen, and the notable
citizens requested interviews with him, that they might
present to him addresses expressive of their grievances
and desires. And, generally speaking, it was not by old
Cavaliers and compromised Royalists that these addresses
were signed, but by men who had taken no part in the
civil war, or by Presbyterians and old Opposition leaders
who had long been supporters of the Parliament. They
made no mention either of the King, or of the monarchy;
they remained satisfied with demanding, either the re-
admission into the Parliament of those members who had
been excluded in 1648, or the election of a new and free
Parliament, according to the laws of the country. These
demands, at once so urgent and so moderate, did not, on
any one occasion, lead Monk to alter the attitude which
he had from the first assumed; he received his visitors
graciously, but without entering into conversation with

! Commons’' Journal, vol. xii. p. 823 ; Bordeaux to Mazarin, Febru-
ary 2, 1660. See APPENDIX.
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them, and replying to them only with a few brief and
vague words, or by a friendly movement of the head, or
by this favourite maxim: “I am but a servant to the
Parliament in a military capacity, and these things, of
great and civil concernment, must be left to the judg-
ment of the Parliament;” but he allowed Scott and
Robinson, who were always present at these interviews,
to answer and discuss as lengthily as they pleased. At
Harborough,' a deputation from the City of London
waited on him; as they insisted strongly on the neces-
sity of having a free Parliament, Scott, without giving
Monk time to make any observation, said abruptly:
“ Now the Parliament has subjected the military power
to a due subordination to the civil, we are free; and,
having already given our judgment in the case of the
secluded members, it does not become you to insist on
their re-admission.” But Alderman Fowke was not thus
to be intimidated. ““I conceive,” he answered, “ that we
are not obl'ged by our instructions to desire the Gene-
ral’s mediat.on further than that we may have all our own
members admitted, for it is unreasonable that we should
be governed by a Parliament in which we are not repre-
sented.” At Northampton,? the gentlemen of the county,
somewhat dismayed by the cold reception which Monk
gave them, were doubtful whether they should present
the address which they had brought; but some of the
General’s confidants advised them, “to go on with their
address, and to be content with such answer as they re-

1 On the 25th of January, 1660, according to Baker; on the 23rd,
according to Skinner.
2 On the 24th of January, 1660, according to Skinner.
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ceived, in expectation of the future effect.” At St. Al-
bans,! a violent scene occurred ; Sir Richard Temple, the
bearer of the Hertfordshire address, spoke so harshly of
the Parliament then sitting, and of the necessity of elect-
ing another in its stead, that Scott exclaimed : “ My age
might excuse me from teking up arms; yet, old as I
am, before this present Parliament shall be entangled by
restoring the secluded members or by new elections, I
will gird on my sword again, and keep the door against
them.” Amid these outbursts of haughtiness and anger
on the part of the commissioners, Monk remained calm
and immovable ; it suited his plans that the public ill-
humour should fall upon them alone, and that their pre-
sence should clearly appear to be the cause of his taci-
turnity.?

But when distrust and duplicity are in conflict, neither
can gain complete success, and the truth will gleam out
from amidst even the most carefully-maintained darkness.
Whilst Monk remained silent, his chaplains and confi-
dential officers took pains to reassure those visitors who
had been discouraged by his silence and coldness. Many
interviews and conversations took place, at which Scott
and Robinson were not present. Even agents who had
been sent from Brussels or Breda obtained access to
Monk, and discharged their commissions; Sir Stephen
Fox, the private treasurer of Charles II., landed in
England, joined the General on his march, saw him in

1 On the 28th of January, 1660.
3 Baker's Chronicle, pp. 742, 743; Price’s Memoirs, pp. 83-85;
Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 195-198 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk, pp.

222-226 ; Whitelocke's Memorials, p. 694 ; Schomberg to his Secretary,
February 5, 1660. See ApPENDIX.
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private, delivered to him a letter from the King, and
returned to his master, without an answer indeed, but
without hindrance. Scott and Robinson exhausted all
the artifices that passion could suggest, in watching Monk
and his confidants ; they lodged everywhere in the same
house with him, took their meals with him, and some-
times even, it is said, caused secret openings to be made
in the partition walls which separated their rooms from his
own, that they might see all that went on in his apart-
ments. They discovered nothing, but yet were not re-
assured ; though satisfied with Monk, and eager to pro-
claim their satisfaction, they still remained acutely anx-
ious; and they were right.!

On arriving at St. Albans, not many miles from Lon-
don, Monk was of opinion that the time had come for
beginning to act with authority ; and without saying any-
thing to Scott and Robinson, he sent to the Parliament,
on the 28th of January, the following letter, which had
been in readiness for some days: “I am now marched in
obedience to your commands thus far on my way towards
London, with four regiments of foot and two regiments
of horse; each regiment of foot containing a thousand
men, and each regiment of horse six hundred. So that
by a list which I have sent to me from the Quartermas-
ter-General of the horse and foot in London, I have dis-
posed of these regiments which march with me; and I
humbly offer that all those now in London, except Colo-
nel Fagg’s regiment, and Colonel Morley’s, may be sent to
the several quarters by me assigned; for, with submis-

! Price’s Memoirs, p. 86 ; Guizot'’s Monk, p. 112 ; Baker’s Chronicle,
p. 742; Memoirs of the Life of Sir Stephen Fox, p. 30.
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sion, I conceive it not for your service that those soldiers
now in London, lately in rebellion against you, should
mingle with your approved faithful regiments. . . . The
three regiments of horse with me are as many in num-
ber as those now in London; and my four regiments
of foot are near as full as the six I remove, so that your
numbers are not lessened. In this letter I send two lists:
in one of them the quarters are set down for these regi-
ments which .march with me into London, and in the
other the several quarters of those to march out; which
I did not appoint but upon much consideration of the
present posture of your affairs, and intelligence of the
distempered condition of the places to which I assign
them. . . . I humbly desire your pleasure may be so early
communicated to us, that I may send the Quartermasters
to make provision for the men.”!

The surprise and consternation produced by this letter
in London were very great; no one had expected any
such demand, or to be addressed in a tone so unbending
in its humility. An animated debate took place in the
Parlianient, on the 30th of January; several members,
among others Haslerig, who was Colonel of one of the
regiments which Monk wished to have removed, were in
favour of resisting his demand. ‘ The Council of State,”
they said, “ has before agreed that four of the regiments
now in London should march out, and four of Monk’s be
admitted.” But either from blindness, or connivance,
or weakness, the party in favour of concession gained their
point ; all Monk’s propositions were agreed to; it was

1 Baker’s Chronicle, p. 741 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 85; Skinner’s Life
of Monk, p. 198 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk, p. 227 ; Whitelocke’s Me-
morials, p. 694.
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voted that the regiments should be quart:red according
to the arrangement of the two lists contained in his
. letter, and that, from the day of Monk’s arrival in the
capital, ten pounds a day should be allowed towards
the maintaining of a table for the commissioners of the
army,” of whom Monk was chief.!

Haslerig himself was, or at all events wished to appear,
resigned to the concessions which he had recently opposed,
for on the day after the House had come to a vote on the
subject, Ludlow happened to pay him a visit, and Hasle-
rig said to him: ““My enemies thought to ensnare me,
by Monk’s motion to the Parliament for removing my
regiment from London, thinking thereby to create a dif-
ference between Monk and myself; but I have disap-
pointed them, by desiring its removal myself, for I assure
you Monk is a person on whose fidelity we may safely
rely.” “If I may be permitted,” adds Ludlow, “to de-
liver my sense touching this discourse of Sir Arthur
Haslerig, I conjecture it proceeded, partly from an ap-
prehension that things were already gone so far, that
he doubted whether he could put any stop to them,
and partly from some sparks of hope that Monk could
not be such a devil as to betray a trust so freely reposed
in him.”?

‘Whilst these deliberations were going on in London
with regard to his demands, Monk halted for five days at
St. Albans, where he assembled his troops, took measures
for their entrance into the metropolis, listened to an en-

! Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. p. 826 ; Baker's Chronicle, p. 743.
2 Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 345 ; Bordeaux to Mazarin, February 7, 1660.
See APPENDIX.
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thusiastic sermon from Hugh Peters, and received nume-
rous visits. His chaplain Gumble and Colonel Knight
told him one day that an important personage, whose
name has remained unknown, wished to see him, on be-
half of the old peers and of the members who had been
excluded from the House of Commons in 1648. Monk
received him with some alacrity, and remained in confer-
ence with him for three hours. After some preliminary
conversation, his visitor said to him: “ As a friend, I be-
lieve your march hither is to restore the secluded mem-
bers.” Monk replied, as usual, that he had no wish to
disturb the civil power. “There is no legal power at
present,” returned the other; “the minority have ex-
cluded the majority ; and even the present usurped power
is divided into the moderate and violent parties. The
first are for a full and free Parliament, which alone can
bind up the gaping wounds of the nation, and settle
peace and religion.” “T also am for a full Parliament,”
said Monk, ““and not against a free one.” “How can
that consist,” answered his visitor, ““if engagements and
oaths must be previously taken? General Monk, as your
friend, I must clearly tell you, none of your dark dubious
letters ever gave your real friends so much grief as one
action you did before you came out of Scotland.” “ And
what was that?” demanded Monk angrily. “ Your ab-
juring the King and his family,” replied the other, “ and
offering the abjuration to the officers of your army: for
this all your friends condemn you.” “’Tis false!” ex-
claimed Monk; “I never did it, nor ever would. God
forbid I should fight against Providence, or any one par-
ticular family. But, Sir, I wonder-to hear this aspersion



THE DAWN .OF THE RESTORATION. 96

from a sober man ; pray, who told it you?” *8ir Arthur
Haslerig, in the House,” said his visitor, “ as an argument
to induce a concurrence in the House as to the abjura-
tion, said, ¢ Gentlemen, Monk and the whole army in -
Scotland have taken it ; I have here a letter in my pocket
to show it.” ” Monk, greatly incensed, repeated that the
statement was a lie, giving his visitor to understand that
his actions should prove its falsity, and that Haslerig
himself should soon be compelled to retract it.!

On the 2nd of February, 1660, he removed his head-
quarters to Barnet, about twelve miles from London. He
was preparing for his entrance into the capital on the fol-
lowing day, when, towards midnight, Scott entered his
room in his nightgown and slippers; he had come, in
great alarm, to entreat the General to set his troops in
motion at once ; an insurrection, he said, had broken out
in London; the regiments which had received orders to
march out had mutinied and refused to obey; bands of
apprentices were parading through the streets of the City,
shouting, “ A free Parliament!” The Parliament, set
at defiance by the soldiers and insulted by the populace,
stood in most urgent need of Monk and his support.
Monk listened calmly to Scott’s speech, and said: “Iam
so near the City that no great mischief can be done in
one night. I will undertake for this night’s disturbance,
and be early enough in the morning to prevent any fur-
ther mischief.” He advised Scott to return to his bed,
sent two officers at once to London to obtain exact infor-
mation as to what was going on, and made arrangements

! Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 667 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk,
PP. 124-126 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 88.
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to be ready, in case of emergency, to act with prompti-
tude on the next day.!

Great agitation had, in fact, prevailed in London dur-
" ing the last two days; the regiments that were to march
out murmured loudly at their removal ; a month’s pay,
which the Parliament had voted for them, failed to satisfy
them ; they asked why they should be obliged to give
place to these new-comers from Scotland—they who
lately, of their own free will, had brought back the Par-
liament to Westminster Hall. Political agitators were
not wanting to stimulate this military sedition ; Vane and
Lambert, who had secretly returned to London, and were
ardent in their efforts to prevent Monk from obtaining
the mastery, fomented and directed the movement. It
is even said that Haslerig and Neville, influenced by op-
posite fears, privately encouraged the resistance of the
soldiers, at the same time that they summoned Monk
to repress it. For a moment, the disturbance wore a
threatening character; several regiments had repulsed
their officers, and declared that they would not march
out; drums were beating in the City; the apprentices
were running to the barracks, and inviting the soldiers
to join with them. But the Parliament was irretrievably-
compromised ; on the very day before, it had bound itself
more closely to Monk by appointing him keeper of St.
James’s Park, and conferring on his brother-in-law
Clarges the office of Commissary-General of the Musters.
The insurrection menaced its existence while braving its
authority. At the same time that it urged Monk to come

! Price’s Memoirs, pp. 88, 89; Skinner's Life of Monk, pp. 199-202;
Bordeaux to Mazarin, February 16, 1660. See APPENDIX.
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to London at once, it took measures for repressing the
disturbance and securing its ringleaders; an additional
grant of pay mollified the ill-humour of the troops; a
few squadrons of cavalry, sent into the City, dispersed
the apprentices. Orders were given to the Usher of the
Black Rod to arrest Vane, detain him in his custody, and
remove him within three days to his country-seat at
Raby. On the morning of the 3rd of February, all was
calm in London, and the regiments of the English army
marched off to the quarters which Monk had assigned to
them in the neighbouring counties.

On the same day, in the afternoon, Monk entered
London, at the head of his cavalry, and attended by the
Commissioners of the Parliament, and a large number of
influential men who had joined his staff. The infantry
followed, in regular marching order; a veteran army,
simple, firm, and martial in their appearance, though
somewhat fatigued by their journey. The people watched
them pass without enthusiasm or acclamations; for they
had been accustomed for some time to distrust the sol-
diery, and did not know what to expect from their pre-
sent visitors. Monk’s men were astonished at the cool-
ness of their reception, and interchanged among them-
selves expressions of contempt for the streets of London,
and of regret for their friends in the Scottish mountains.
On arriving in Chancery-lane, Monk halted with his
whole cavalcade, in front of the house of the Speaker, to
whom he wished to do honour, as the representative of

' Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. p. 828 ; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 694 ;
Baker’s Chronicle, p. 743 ; Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 666 ;
Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 200-202; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 346.
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the sovereign power ; but Lenthall had not yet returned
from Westminster, and the troops resumed their march.
In the Strand, near Somerset House, they met Lenthall,
on his way home. Monk dismounted from his horse,
and advancing towards the Speaker’s coach, addressed
him in terms of ceremonious compliment. Lenthall
immediately alighted from his carriage, and replied in
equally flattering language. They embraced; Lenthall
went on his way to Chancery-lane ; Monk replaced him-
self at the head of his troops, and marched to Whitehall,
where, by order of the Parliament, the apartments of the
Prince of Wales had been prepared to receive him.!

! Price’s Memoirs, pp. 89-91 ; Skinner's Life of Monk, p. 202 ; Gum-

ble’s Life of Monk, pp. 227, 228 ; Whiteclocke’s Memorials, p. 694 ;
Baker's Chronicle, p. 743.
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BOOK 1IV.

ATTITUDE ASSUMED BY MONK IN LONDON.—THE CITY PRONOUNCES IN
FAVOUR OF A FULL AND FREE PARLIAMENT.—THE PARLIAMENT OR-
DERS MONK TO BRING THE CITY INTO SUBMISSION.—~MONE OBEYS.—
HIS RECONCILIATION WITH THE CITY.—POPULAR OUTBREAK IN THE
CITY AGAINST THE LONG PARLIAMENT.—MONK PROCURES THE AD-
MISSION INTO THE PABLIAMENT OF THOSE MEMBERS WHO HAD
BEEN EXCLUDED SINCE 1648.—MONARCHICAL TENDENCIES PREVAIL
IN THE PARLIAMENT.—UNCERTAINTY OF THE ROYALISTS WITH RE-
GARD TO MONK’S INTENTIONS.—THE REPUBLICANS PROPOSE TO HIM
TO ASSUME THE SUPREME POWER.—HE REFUSES.—MILTON’S PAMPH-
LETS,~DISSOLUTION OF THE LONG PARLIAMENT.-— MONK SENDS
GREENVILLE TO CHARLES II.—EFFORTS OF THE PRESBYTERIANS TO
TREAT WITH THE KING.—OFFERS OF THE FRENCH AMBASSADOR TO
MONK.—CHARLES II. REMOVES TO BREDA.—ESCAPE, INSUREECTION,
AND DEFEAT OF LAMBERT.—ELECTION AND MEETING OF THE NEW
PABLIAMENT.—IT8 CIVILITIES TO MONK.—LETTERS OF CHARLES II.
TO THE TWO HOUSES AND TO THE CITY.—DECLABATION FROM BREDA.—
THE HOUSES PROCLAIM CHARLES IIL., AND SEND COMMISSIONERS TO
HIM.—OUTBREAK OF THE ROYALIST BEACTION.—DEBATES IN PAR-
LIAMENT, AMONG OTHER TOPICS, ON THE ACT OF INDEMNITY.—
CHARLES II. BRECEIVES THE (" MMISSIONERS OF THE PARLIAMENT.—
PROCEEDINGS OF THE COURTS OF FRANCE AND SPAIN, AND OF THE
STATES-GENERAL OF HOLLAND, TOWARDS CHARLES I1I.~—CHABLES II.
AT THE HAGUE.—HE TAKES LEAVE OF THE STATES-GENERAL.—HIS
EMBAREKATION AT SCHEVELING AND ARRIVAL AT DOVER, WHERE HE
I8 MET BY MONK.—HIS ENTRBY INTO LONDON.—HE RECEIVES THE
TWO HOUSES OF PARLIAMENT AT WHITEHALL.—STATE OF THE PUB-
LIC MIND.—FUTURE PROSPECTS.

TrosE men who, while pursuing opposite designs, never-
theless have need of one another, may, when they are

separated from each other and are not as yet very deeply
H2
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engaged in the conflict, long succeed in mutually deceiv-
ing one another with regard to their secret intentions ;
but when they draw near the goal, when they find them-
selves face to face, compelled at every moment to speak
and to act, deception and dupery become difficult; and in
order to prolong the cheat, a rare degree of imperturbable
audacity is required in the one party, and of passionate
blindness in the other.

Monk and the Republican party were now entering
upon this final crisis ; and they did so with very unequal
strength. The Republic still had soldiers; but, in its
dissensions, it had lost all its most able and renowned
leaders one after another. It could no longer bow its
head, and shelter itself beneath the name of Cromwell;
that refuge it had rejected. Vane and Lambert were
proscribed ; Thurloe had been set aside; Ludlow was
treated with distrust and ill-humour. To sustain the
Republican cause, there now remained only the impe-
tuosity of Haslerig, the obstinacy of Scott, the mystical
enthusiasm of Overton, the speculative debates of Har-
rington’s club, the eloquent but melancholy pamphlets of
Milton, and the unintelligent ardour of a small band of
obscure fanatics, as ready to quarrel with one another, as
to sacrifice themselves for their faith. Monk was alone,
without a party, unfettered by pledges, illusions, or scru-
ples, at the head of a restless but obedient army ; making
it his constant endeavour to appear, and in reality to re-
main, free as to his actions, even after his resolution
was taken ; persisting as long as he could in silence, and
when he was compelled to speak, substituting falsehood
for silence with the utmost effrontery; always patient,
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whether he was uncertain in his own mind or not; and
fully resolved to wait as long as was necessary, so that
he might achieve success without recommencing the civil
war, and might relieve himself from responsibility by
doing whatever he did in the name of the civil power,
that is to say, of the Parliament.

On the 4th of February,1660, the day after his entrance
into London, he went down to the Council of State.
The suspicious Republicans were awaiting him, in order
to try him; the President requested him to take the oath
of abjuration against monarchy and the Stuart family.
Monk’s resolution had long been fixed on this point, and
his answer was ready. “I must crave leave to demur,”
he said : “for I know not how this oath will relish with
my army, who are very tender on that point; for many
of them are of opinion that it is not lawful to swear
against the providence of God. Moreover, seven besides
myself, who were nominated to be of the Council of
State, have not yet abjured ; and before deciding, I de-
sire to have some satisfaction by a mutual conference be-
tween the dissenters, that I may proceed with the greater
peace and content. In the meanwhile, that you may see
that you have no reason to suspect me or my army, I
desire that you will make trial of our fidelity and obedi-
ence to you. If you find that I either disobey or dis-
pute your orders, I am in your power; for I brought not
an army with me to make you jealous of me, having sent
back a great part of it into Scotland, as soon as I under-
stood that you were established in your power.” The
members of the Council looked at one another; a dis-
cussion ensued ; attempts were made to remove Lis ob-
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jections; but Monk persisted in his refusal; and not-
withstanding their increased distrust, they were obliged
to grant him the delay, and to promise him the confer-
ence, which he demanded.!

On the same day, in the evening, Admiral Lawson and
Ludlow went together to pay him a visit. Ludlow con-
gratulated him on having lent his support to the Parlia-
ment against the power of the sword, and expressed the
hope that, by his honest assistance, a lawful government
might at length be established. “ I hope so too,” replied
Monk ; “we must live and die for and with a Common-
wealth.”  “On my way to London,” returned Ludlow,
“I met with one Mr. Courtney, who said he was your
relation, and, having drunk too much at the inn where I
lay, boasted that his cousin Monk would do great things
for the King ; but upon my objecting your public decla-
rations and protestations to the contrary, he began to
doubt, and said, ‘ That his cousin being a man of honour,
he feared he would be as good as his word.”” “Yea,”
answered Monk, if there were nothing in it but that, I
must make good my word, and will too.” The two Re-
publicans took their leave, equally surprised and satis-
fied. “The Levite and the priest have passed by, and
would not help us,” said Lawson to Ludlow ; “but I hope
we have found a Samaritan that will do so.”?

Visitors flocked to Whitehall ; all, whether from curi-
osity or in the hope of enhancing their own importance,
wished to see Monk, to give him such information or ad-

! Price’s Memoirs, pp.91,92; Gumble’s Life of Monk, p- 228 ; Skin-
ner’s Life of Monk, p. 205 ; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 743.

? Ludlow’s Memoirs, pp. 846, 347 ; Clarendon'’s State Papers, vol. iii.
pp. 670, 672.
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vice as they had to offer, and to be able to speak of him
and, as it were, in his name. Scott came to give him
notice that, on the following day, the House would re-
ceive him, “to give him publicly their acknowledgments
of his service,” and that they expected he would make
positive profession of his affection to their interest and
authority, and of his dislike of the addresses to him re-
garding the secluded members. Scott had no sooner
taken his departure than a citizen, named Sturdy, was
brought to Monk by an old Cavalier; he came to inform
him that a son of Scott, who lodged in his house, had
stated that, in a few days, not only would Monk be de-
prived of the command of the army, but he would be
sent to the Tower and brought to trial, for they could
prove enough against him to make his head fall off his
broad shoulders. Monk received every one, listened to
every report, promised Scott that he would make such a
speech as should satisfy the Parliament, gave Sturdy a
place among his guards, and held himself in readiness
for any emergency, without doing anything to bring
matters prematurely to a crisis.!

As he had announced, on Monday, the 6th of Feb-
ruary, Scott, accompanied by several other members,
came to fetch Monk from Whitehall, and conducted him
to the Parliament. As he passed through Westminster
Hall, he bowed low to the Judges whom he met on his
way. On entering the House, the Serjeant-at-arms, who
preceded him with the mace, pointed out to him an arm-

! Price’s Memoirs, pp. 90, 91 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk, p. 228 ; Skin-
ner's Life of Monk, pp. 206-208; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 743 ; White-
locke’s Memorials, p. 694; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 347.
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chair, which had been placed for him within the bar.
The Speaker requested him to be seated ; Monk declined,
and remained standing behind the chair. The Speaker
then addressed to him, in pious and pompous language,
the thanks of the House. “ The face of this land,” he
said, “was covered with a gloomy and black cloud, and
the whole nation was left, in the judgment of man, to the
uttermost ruin: but in that condition, we did, as the
prophet, espy a little cloud, no broader than a hand,
which is infinitely, in an instant, become the refreshment
of the whole nation.”” Monk bowed modestly, and, still
standing, made the following reply: *Mr. Speaker,
amongst the many mercies of God to these poor nations,
your peaceable restitution is not the least. It is His
work alone, and to Him belongs the glory of it. I esteem
it as a great effect of His goodness to me, that He was
pleased to make me, amongst many worthier in your ser-
vice, someway instrumental in it. I did nothing but my
duty, and deserve not to receive so great an honour and
respect as you are pleased to give me at this time and
plac.. . . .. I shall not now trouble you with large nar-
ratives ; only give me leave to acquaint you that, as I
marched from Scotland hither, I observed the people in
most counties in great and earnest expectations of a set-
tlement, and several applications were made to me with
numerous subscriptions to them. The chiefest heads of
their desires were for a free and full Parliament, and that
you would determine your sitting; a gospel ministry,
encouragement of learning and Universities ; and the ad-
mittance of the members secluded before the year 1648,
without any previous oath or engagement. To which I
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commonly answered that you are now in a free Parlia-
ment, and if there be any force remaining upon you, I
would endeavour to remove it and that you had voted
to fill up your House, and then you would be a full Par-
liament also; and that you had already determined your
sitting : and for the maintenance of the ministry, the
laws and Universities, you had largely declared concern-
ing them in your last declaration, and I was confident
you would adhere to it. But as for those gentlemen se-
cluded in the year 1648, I told them you had given
judgment in it, and all people ought to acquiesce in that
judgment; and that, to admit any members to sit in
Parliament, without a previous oath or engagement to
preserve the government in being, was never done in
England.

“But, although I said it not to them, I must say
(with pardon) to you, that the less oaths and engage-
ments are imposed (with respect had to the security of
the common cause), the sooner will your settlement be
attained. . . . I know all the sober gentry will close with
you, if they may be tenderly and gently used; and
I am sure you will so use them, knowing it to be the
common concern to amplify and not to lessen our interest,
and to be careful that neither the Cavalier nor Fanatic
party have a share in your civil or military power; of
the last of whose impatience of government, you have
lately had so severe experience.”?

! Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. p. 835; Old Parliamentary History,
vol. xxii. p. 88; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 695; Gumble’s Life of
Monk, p. 229; Skinner’s Life of Monk, p. 206 ; Baker’s Chronicle, pp.
744-746 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 347 ; Clarendon’s History of the Re-

Dellion, vol vii. pp. 401-403 ; Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 672;
Pepys’ Diary, vol. i. p. 22.
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The Republicans were greatly displeased with this
speech ; they thought it marked by too great an assump-
tion of authority, and by too evident a desire to court
popularity. Monk, on his side, notwithstanding the
honours paid to him, was offended at being invariably
addressed, not as General, but as Commissioner, as one
of the seven members to whom the government of the
army had been delegated. The rivals had been in pre-
sence of each other for only three days; and yet they
already found it.difficult to dissemble their hostility be-
neath the mask of silence and falsehood.

The Royalist leaders, meanwhile, were far from believ-
ing themselves to be making such rapid progress; Monk
studiously avoided any explanation, and almost any com-
munication with them ; none of the King’s private friends
could gain access to him; and they wrote to Brussels
to complain of the difficulties they encountered, and to
request Charlcs to furnish them with some means of ap-
proach to the General, with whom it was all-important
that they should be able to act in concert. Charles
replied by exhorting them to use discretion and patience,
as he was unwilling to confess to them that he had him-
self no relations with Monk. His more zealous adhe-
rents declared that nothing was to be expected from the
General. “ Monk hath already pulled off his mask,”
wrote Mordaunt to the King, on the 5th of February;
“he is clearly Republican, and certainly hath acted the
weakest part that ever man did; he hath lost all parties;
and now runs with the giddy members into illegal and
irregular actions.” “The secluded party,” wrote Rum-
bold to Hyde, on the 7th of February, “are very much
offended at him for not countenancing their interest.”
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But in spite of these individual disappointments and
doubts, the Royalist party throughout the country felt
its fortunes improving, and rested its hopes more and
more strongly on Monk ; it was to him, and not to the
House, that those addresses were brought, from a multi-
tude of counties and towns, which demanded a full and
free Parliament ; it was to him that all looked for the
signal for action; and while waiting for him to give it,
the Cavaliers returned in considerable numbers from the
Continent, ““talking very high,” says Whitelocke, ““and de-
claring that the King would be in England very shortly.””!

The Republicans were greatly moved by these symp-
toms of the approaching crisis; the House ordered the
arrest of a number of Royalists ; new and vigorous mea-
sures were adopted for the sequestration of their pro-
perty;? during the debate on the bill for regulating
elections to future Parliaments, a clause was insecrted
declaring all persons who, since the 1st of February,
1649, had in any way assisted or abetted any plot or de-
sign in favour of Charles Stuart or his family, incapable
of being elected or of giving any vote in the election of
members.> The Royalists were treated as if the civil war
were still at its height. And at the same time, instead
of endeavouring to rally together, on the ground of their
common danger, all the partisans of the Republic, those
whom the dominant faction regarded as personal enemies
were pursued with relentless animosity. Notwithstand-
ing his illness, Vane had great difficulty in obtaining

! Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. pp. 670, 672, 679 ; Whitelocke’s
Memorials, p. 695.

2 On the 7th of February, 1660.

3 On the 8th and 11th of February, 1660.



108 RICHARD CROMWELL AND

a week’s respite of the order for his banishment from
London ;' and Lambert, who had been traced to his
hiding-place, was summoned to appear before the Coun-
cil of State, required to give security that he would do
nothing to the prejudice of the Commonwealth, and or-
dered to retire immediately to his residence at Holmby.?
A warrant for £2999 which Thurloe had received for
secret service expenses was cancelled, and the Council of
State was directed to institute a strict inquiry into the
matter.® Such were the last futile gratifications with
which the ruling clique, reduced to extremity, indulged
its fears and hatreds.s

It suddenly found itself in presence of a far more for-
midable enemy than those whom it was able so easily to
proscribe. The City of London, that stronghold of the
Presbyterian and Reforming party, from whence the Long
Parliament, in its best days, had derived its chief support
against Charles I., now boldly unfurled the banner of
resistance against the decrepit and mutilated Long Par-
liament. The Lord Mayor, Aldermen, and Common
Council voted that they would pay no more taxes, unless
they were imposed on the City by a full and free Par-
liament. This vote imported the moral and material
ruin of the power which still sate at Westminster.®

The chief supporters of the Rump Parliament, both

! On the 6th of February. 1660.

2 On the 8th of February, 1660.

3 On the 2nd of February, 1660.

1 Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. pp. 836, 840, 835, 837, 881-833 ; Thur-
loe’s State Papers, vol. vii. p. 807 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 347.

¢ Baker's Chronicle, p. 746 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 95 ; Gumble’s Life

of Monk, p. 234; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 348; Skinner's Life of Monk,
p- 210; Clarendon’s Hislory of the Rebellion, vol. vii. pp. 404, 405.



THE DAWN OF THE RESTORATION. 109

civilians and officers, met immediately at Westminster,’
in the hall of the Council of State; and after they had
conferred for some time amongst themselves, Monk was
requested to join them. Haslerig went in person to
fetch him. Some hesitated about reposing so much con-
fidence in him; but Scott and Haslerig pledged them-
selves for his docility. He was informed that it had
been resolved, in order to repress the insolence of the
citizens, to march the army into the City, with directions
to remove the posts and chains from the streets, to break
down the portcullises and gates, and to arrest eleven of
the ringleaders in the rebellion. The execution of these
orders was entrusted to him. If we may believe Ludlow,
Monk said, “ that if they did no more than this, it would
serve for nothing, for the disaffection of the City was so
great, that they would never be quiet until some of them
were hanged ; that it was absolutely necessary, for the
present, to break in pieces their gates and portcullises, to
burn their posts, and to carry away their chains to the
Tower ; and that he would willingly undertake to see
their orders put in execution.” But this assertion is
refuted by the known character of Monk, (who was by no
means inclined to compromise himself beyond the limits
of strict necessity,) by his language and conduct in the
sequel of this affair, and by the length of the sitting of
the Council at which the matter was discussed. At two ~
o'clock in the morning it was not over. If Monk had
shown the alacrity which Ludlow attributes to him, there
would have been no need of such a laborious conference
with him. The fear that he would refuse to undertake

! On the 8th of February, 1660.
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this service was so great, that, when he made his appear-
ance in the Council, the leaders, in order that he might
be subject to no other influence than their own, ordered
all the doors to be shut, and guards to be posted on the
outside, with strict injunctions to admit no one. Sur-
prised at this stringent prohibition, an officer, happening
to meet Ashley Cooper and Weaver in the street, informed
them of it; they were both of them members of the
Council of State, but had not been summoned to attend
on the present occasion. Surprised in their turn, and
curious to ascertain what was going on, they made their
way, by favour of their title, to the very door of the hall,
and endeavoured, but without success, to gain admittance.
They then proceeded to the residence of Mrs. Monk,
whom they found in considerable anxiety at her hus-
band’s absence from home. Was he detained by force ?
Was any evil design in progress against him? Was there
not some scheme for sending him to the Tower? Mrs.
Monk went herself to the door of the Council-chamber,
and exclaimed from the outside, that she had something
important to communicate to her husband ; but her cries
succeeded neither in getting the door opened, nor in ob-
taining any answer; and she returned home with her
two visitors, who remained with her until the General
made his appearance.!

Monk came home at about three o’clock in the morn-

! Price’s Memoirs p. 96; Gumble’s Life of Monk, p. 236 ; Skinner’s
Life of Monk, p. 221; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 746; Ludlow’s Memoirs,
p. 348; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 695; Clarendon’s History of the
Rebellion, vol. vii. pp. 404-406; Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. ii. p.
674 ; Wingrove Cooke’s Life of the First Earl of Shaftesbury, vol. i.
pp. 223, 224.
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ing, silent and anxious. In reply to the eager questions
which were put to him, he briefly related what had
passed ; the Council had ordered him to march into the
City with his troops, to pull down the chains, posts, and
portcullises, and to arrest eleven of the principal citizens;
and, in a few hours, as soon as day broke, he intended
to execute those orders. Ashley Cooper expostulated :
how could Monk undertake such a commission? did he
wish to ruin himself in the opinion of all the honest peopie
in England, and to place himself at the discretion of his
enemies? Monk had made up his mind, and declined
to enter into any discussion; he merely said that he
could do no otherwise than obey, took leave of his two
colleagues, and went to bed.

At daybreak on the 9th of February, his soldiers
marched out of their barracks, and prepared as it were
for a warlike expedition; not knowing on what service
they were to be employed, they questioned each other
eagerly. At length orders came for them to enter the City,
and station themselves at certain fixed posts. Monk took
up his head-quarters at a tavern called the Three Tuns,

. in the neighbourhood of Guildhall. There he assembled
his officers, and communicated to them the instructions
which he had to carry into execution. Most of them
remonstrated ; they felt, they said, so much respect and
attachment to his person that they were unwilling, under
any circumstances, to disobey him; but they could not
make up their minds to become the instruments in an
act of violence which would be, on their part, an act
of odious ingratitude towards the City; they therefore
begged him to accept their resignation, and to lay his
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commands upon others. “ Will you not obey the orders
of the Parliament?” said Monk, striding up and down
the room, and chewing his tobacco. Some of the officers
understood his meaning, and remained firm; subalterns
were directed to perform the task which their superiors
persisted in refusing. The execution commenced; the
posts and chains were removed ; the citizens, collecting
in groups in the streets, loudly expressed their surprise
and indignation: “Is this,” they said, “ that Monk that
would bring in the King? This is a Scottish devil. To
what shall we come?”’ Attempts were made to mollify
the General; he was invited to dine with the Corpora-
tion ; he refused. Several of the most influential citizens
requested an interview with him; he granted their re-
quest, and listened to them in silence. “The affections
of the City to you are such,” they said, “that whatever
you reasonably can desire of us, shall be more easily ob-
tained by persuasion than by force. Controversy between
cnemies has nothing extraordinary in it; but to be ill-
treated by friends is very grievous. When Hewson
marched into the City with a greater number of troops,
he could not compass his ends; but now that you have
put your most rigorous orders in execution, the people
seem rather amazed with astonishment to receive such
treatment from your hands, than provoked to resent the
indignity of it.” This speech appeared to make an impres-
sion on Monk, who saw that it opened a way for him to
exchange a course of severity for one of compromise. “I
have orders,” he said, “to take down the gates and port-
cullises as well as the posts and chains, but I will imme-
diately write to the Parliament to request them to miti-
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gate their commands.” And suspending the work of
destruction, he wrote that same evening to the Speaker,
in these terms: “In obedience to the commands received
from the Council last night, I marched with your forces
into the City this morning, and have secured all the per-
sons ordered to be secured, except two who were not to
be found. The posts and chains I have given orders to
be taken away, but have hitherto forborne taking down
the gates and portcullises, because it will, in all likelihood,
exasperate the City; and I have good ground of hopes
from them that they will levy the assess, they desiring
only first to meet in Common Council, which they in-
tend to do to-morrow morning. It seems probable to me
that they will yield obedience to your commands, and be
brought to a friendly compliance with you; for which
reason I have suspended the execution of your commands
touching the gates and portcullises, till I know your fur-
ther pleasure therein, which I desire I may know by this
bearer. I shall only desire that (so your commands may
be answered with due obedience) such tenderness may
be used towards them as may gain their affections. They
desire the restoration of those members of their Common
Council that are secured ; which desire I shall only com-
mend to your grave consideration.” And in order to
give a still more political signification to his letter, Monk
added this postscript: I shall become an humble suitor
to you that you will be pleased to hasten your qualifica-
tions, that the writs may be sent out; I can assure you
it will tend much to the peace of the country, and satisfy
many honest men.”!

! Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. p. 838; Old Parliamentary History,

VOL. II. L
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When this letter was read, the anger of the House
was great ; it disclosed at once a danger and a miscalcu-
lation. On learning that Monk was executing their or-
ders, the leaders had flattered themselves that their vic-
tory was complete, that they had conquered at once both
Monk and the City: “ George is now our own, body and
soul,” ITaslerig had exclaimed. On the morning of the
same day, a popular manifestation, emanating from the
City, had still further increased their confidence; a nu-
merous body of Republican Sectaries, headed by the fa-
mous Barebone, on whom the Parliament had lately be-
stowed a lucrative appointment, had come to present a
petition, full of the warmest expressions of attachment to
the Commonwecalth, and demanding that no one, great
or small, should be admitted to hold any civil or military
office unless he expressly abjured Charles Stuart and his
race, and every other pretender to the Crown, as well as
any House of Peers, or other power co-ordinate with that
of the representatives of the people. The House had
solemnly thanked the petitioners for their address, and
for the good affections which it expressed. A few hours
later, Monk’s letter arrived, to solicit a concession in fa-
vour of the opposite party. The House refused to make
any such concession ; a vote was passed that its first or-
ders should be fully executed, that the portcullises and
gates of the City should be destroyed as well as the posts
and chains; and two members, Scott and Pury, were
vol. xxii. pp. 92, 93; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 695 ; Price’s Memoirs,
pp- 102,103 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, pp. 348, 349 ; Gumble’s Life of Monk,
Pp. 236-242; Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 213-218 ; Baker’s Chronicle,

p- 746; Clarendon’s History of the Rebellion, vol. vii. pp. 405, 408;
Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. pp. 674, 691-693.
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directed to convey this vote immediately to Monk, and
to require his prompt obedience. And to cut short every
hope of compromise, the Common Council was dissolved,
and orders were issued that a new Council should be
elected, ““with such qualifications as the Parliament should
think fit.””?

Monk did not hesitate; the manifest ill-humour of his
officers and soldiers, when they learned the decision of
the House, was an additional reason for his yielding obe-
dience; the responsibility no longer rested upon him,
and he was sure that the public indignation would be
turned in another direction. The gates and portcullises
were all taken down, as the posts and chains had been
already. The soldiers went about their work with evi-
dent disgust, saying: “We have come from Scotland,
where our enemies loved us, and are now employed to
oppress our best friends.” At Newgate, when the gates
were broken in pieces, the officer in command distribu-
ted small fragments of the wood among his soldiers, with
this observation: “These are the medals that the Par-
liament promised us at Coldstrcam.” Reports of these
scenes, and of the irritation that prevailed among both
soldiers and people, were rapidly spread, and on hearing
them, Colonel Morley, the governor of the Tower, called
on Monk at his head-quarters, and assured him that both
he and his brother, Colonel Sir John Fagg, were ready
to act in concert with him in order to put a stop to this

! Commons’ Journals, vol. vii, p. 838; Old Parliamentary History,
vol. xxii. p. 94; Whitelocke’s Memorials, p. 695; Ludlow’s Memoirs,
p-349; Price’s Memoirs, p. 104; Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 213-216;

Bakor’s Chronicle, p. 747 ; Clarendon’s History of the Rebellion, vol. vii.
Pp. 406, 407 ; Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. pp. 691-693.
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anarchical oppression. Monk welcomed these symptoms
of the approaching storm, without in the meanwhile ceas-
ing to obey his orders; and towards the end of the day,
the work of destruction being fully accomplished, he
withdrew his troops from the City, and returned to
Whitehall.

On arriving there, he learned that the House, either
from being satisfied with his conduct or wishing to ap-
pear so, had just voted® that the sum of ten pounds a
day should be allowed to him, to commence on the day
of his entrance into England. It had further granted
him fifty pounds as an indemnity for the dinner which,
on the previous day, he had refused to accept from the
City : a disgraceful proof of the opinion already current
with regard to his avarice, the basest of all vices by
which great destinies can be sullied. But Monk'’s avarice
made no change in his designs, and he received the fa-
vours of the House as the House granted them, without
being moved thereby to any increase of confidence, or
ceasing to continue its enemy. During the evening, his
best officers and most trusted agents, Clarges, Dr. Bar-
row, Ashley Cooper, Colonels Cloberry, Lidcot, Knight,
Saunders, and Barton, came to urge him to take a deci-
sive course ; he could not longer remain in the equivocal
position which he had hitherto occupied ; by obeying the
House, he had discontented the City ; by interceding for
the City, he had incurred the suspicion of the House.
At the same time that it affected to feel so much grati-
tude towards him, the House was seeking for allies
against him in all quarters ; Haslerig was labouring hard

! On the 10th of February, 1660.
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to debauch his regiments; Vane and Lambert them-
selves, though so odious to the dominant faction, and
notwithstanding the decree of banishment so recently
pronounced against them, nevertheless remained still in
London, and had entered into a secret understanding
with the leaders of the House. By a bold and sudden
vote, Monk might be deprived of his command, and
forced to choose between open revolt and absolute nullity.
It was of urgent importance that he should recover the
shaken confidence of the City and of the entire Presby-
terian party; and in this he could succeed only by
openly declaring for a full and frece Parliament, and put-
ting an end to the vain promises and delays which were
ruining both himself and his country.'

Monk at first appeared undecided and inclined to pro-
crastinate still further; he required two days, he said, in
order to concert with his officers. Great men alone are
able, in critical moments, to make up their minds with
prompt audacity, and to take upon themselves the re-
sponsibility of their resolution, instead of waiting until
events or men force it upon them. Naturally slow and
circumspect, Monk became bold only at the last moment,
and under the pressure of necessity. He did not how-
ever in this emergency, require long persuasion; before
the evening was over, he had adopted and put in prac-
tice the advice given him; he directed some of his con-
fidants to prepare a letter to the Parliament, cxpressive
of the grievances and lawful desircs of the country, and

! Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. p. 840; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 849 ;
Baker’s Chronicle, p. 747 ; Price’s Memoirs, pp. 105, 106 ; Gumble's
Life of Monk, p. 244; Skinner's Life of Monk, p. 219 ; Wingrove
Cooke’s Life of Shaftesbury, vol. i. p. 226.
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requiring their redress and satisfaction before a certain
day. Twelve officers had orders to make all necessary
preparations for an immediate movement of the troops,
and to hold themselves, with a strong detachment, at the
General’s disposal, in front of Whitehall, at six o’clock
on the following morning. When these measures had
been agreed on, and all his agents set at work, Monk re-
tired to his room. When he made his appearance again,
before daybreak on the following morning, the 11th of
February, 1660, the letter to the Parliament was ready,
and the officcrs were assembled. The letter was read
aloud to them; Monk signed it first of all; fourteen
colonels and other superior officers, signed it after him;
two of them, Cloberry and Lidcot, were deputed to con-
vey it to the House, but not until the General had left
Whitchall The troops were then put in motion and
Monk marched at their head into the City, whither, two
hours previously, Clarges had been sent to inform the
Lord Mayor of the approaching arrival of the General
and his army, and to prepare for them a good reception
and convenient quarters.

The success of this measure was not easy to sccure;
the City, which still regarded Monk and his army with
great distrust, was alarmed at the rumour of their sud-
den return. The Lord Mayor received Clarges with
visible ill-temper ; what was the General’s object in com-
ing? he asked ; did he intend to ravage and humiliate
the City a second time? Clarges was embarrassed for
an answer ; he had been ordered not to reveal Monk’s
true design, until it should be known what effect his
letter had produced on the Parliament; he entered into
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conversation however with some of the aldermen with
whom he was on friendly terms, and gave them some
hint of what was in preparation. Chaplain Price, who
had also come into the City before his patron, and taken
up his quarters at the Three Tuns tavern where Monk
had previously lodged, was surrounded by a crowd of
curious citizens, who plied him with questions indicative
of the greatest alarm. He freely told them to dismiss
their fears; “we are not now the same men that we
were two days ago,” he said, “ and this you shall find
before night.” Meanwhile, Monk had halted with his
troops in Finsbury Ficlds, where Clarges sent him word
that, before bringing his men into the City, it would be
well for him to wait in person on the Lord Mayor, Sir
Thomas Allen, in order to quiet his apprehensions, and
be his guest at dinner. Monk proceeded at once to his
Lordship’s residence. ““ General,” said the Lord Mayor
to him, “you are very welcome to my housc; but the
City is full of fears at your sudden return, after such
violent actions as your soldiers were employed on yester-
day.” T hope,” replied Monk, ‘“ to make it of another
mind in a few hours ; meanwhile I desire your Lordship
to appoint the Aldermen and Common Council to mect
me at four o’clock in Guildhall, that I may acquaint
them with my intentions.” These words were almost
sufficient to explain his purpose; the Common Council
which Monk desired to meet was the very body which the
Parliament had just dissolved. The Lord Mayor, with-
out further hesitation, gave orders that it should be
summoned immediately. The party then sat down to
table; the dinner was gay and trustful ; at every mo-
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ment, the good understanding and mutual hopes of the
guests increased ; and they were preparing to proceed to
the meeting at Guildhall, when it was announced that
two commissioners of the Parliament, Scott and Robin-
son, had arrived, and requested an interview with the
General.!

His letter, which had been delivered by the two of-
ficers at the time appointed, had thrown the House into
great consternation; its demands were peremptory, and
its language hard and menacing, notwithstanding the
introduction of a few phrases of formal humility. The
House was accused of secret connivance with the very
men who had lately expelled it from Westminster ; Lam-
bert and Vane were mentioned by name, Ludlow was
hinted at. It was reproached with wishing to impose a
new oath, which would exclude from public employments
all honest and conscientious men, and from Christian
pulpits all the most pious ministers in the nation. Fi-
nally, it was required to issue on the following Friday,
the 17th of February, all the writs which were necessary
to complete the number of the House by new elections;
“ and we must not forget to remember you,” added the
petitioners, ““ that the time hastens wherein you have de-
clared your intended dissolution, which the people and
ourselves desire you will be punctual in.” No other.
trace of the feelings which this letter doubtless excited
now remains than the following resolution: “ That the
thanks of this House be given to General Monk, for his
faithful service; and that, as to the filling up of the

! Baker's Chronicle, pp. 747, 748 ; Price’s Memoirs, p. 106 ; Gum-
ble’s Life of Monk, pp. 246-249 ; Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 221-224.
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House, the Parliament were upon the qualifications, be-
fore the receipt of the said letter; and the same will be
despatched in due time.” This was the message which
Scott and Robinson were charged to convey to him.
Monk received them in the midst of his officers, who
freely took part in the conversation. “The General has
no reason,” said Colonel Bridges, “ to credit your fair
speeches, since your words and your practices agree not
together. When I came from the Irish army to impeach
Ludlow and Jones of high treason, I could have no jus-
tice, but was put off from day to day; whereas Praisegod
Barebone could be heard and admitted with a seditious
petition the first moment he came to the door of the
House.” The two commissioners firmly repelled these
attacks; and, addressing Monk in a tone of long-esta-
blished and confident friendship, they urged him to re-
turn to Whitehall, for fear lest contact with a disaffected
populace might shake the fidelity of his soldiers. But
Monk cut short all discussion by saying: «All will be
well, if you strictly observe the advice of the letter, and
* issue out writs on Friday next for filling up your House.”
With this observation, he took leave of the commissioners,
and proceeded to Guildhall.!

“ The employment whereon I was sent, at my last
being in the City,” he said, on entering the Council-
chamber, “ was the most ungrateful to me that ever I
undertook, and was so much against my inclination that,
if anything less than quitting my command could have
prevented it, I would never have undertaken it. Not

! Old Parliamentary History, vol. xxii. pp. 98-103 ; Commons’ Jour-
nals, vol. vii. p. 841 ; Baker’s Chronicle, p. 748.
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that I value my commission, out of any respect to myself,
for 1 have often desired to lay it down; but I know how
much it imports both you and me, to keep it out of the
hands of such as most probably would not be so well in-
clined asI am to the scttlement of these nations. Ihave
not forgotten your kind letter, which I received at Mor-
peth, wherein I affectionately concurred, but was forced
to retire baekward, like a fencing-master, to make the
better guard, and the more advantageous assault. What
I have now to tell you is this: I have this morning sent
to the Parliament, to issuc out writs within seven days
for the filling up of their Tlouse, and when filled, to sit
no longer than the 6th of May, but then to give place to
a full and free Parliament. To this end I am come to
stay with you, until we shall sce our desires fulfilled.”?
This spcech was reccived with hearty and unanimous
applause ; fear was dispelled, and hope revived, in the
breasts of all who heard it ; Monk left the hall amid loud
cries of “ God bless your Excellency!” The mob, and
the news, spread like lightning through the City; bands
of apprentices marched through the streets, shouting:
“Thd General is with us ! down with the Rump!” The
bells of all the churches were soon set ringing : and bon-
fires were lighted in the public squares and streets. I
counted seven or eight in King-street,” says Samuel
Pepys; “fourtecn between St. Dunstan’s Church and
Temple Bar, and at Strand Bridge I could at one time
tell thirty-one fires.” The populace crowded round these
fires, bringing all the hind-quarters of meat which they

! Baker's Chronicle, p. 748; Skinner’s Life of Monk, pp. 227, 228 ;
Gumble’s Lifo of Monk, pp. 249, 250 ; Whitelocke's Memonals, p. 695.
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could find in the butchers’ shops, and which the butchers
themselves readily contributed; these they threw into
the burning heap, or brandished amidst the flames,
roasting the Rump with songs and dances, and some-
times with bumpers to the King’s health. Monk’s sol-
diers, after having passed the day under arms in Fins-
bury Fields, entered the City in the evening, to be wel-
cdbmed, feasted, and entertained by the citizens in their
houses, as restorers of their country’s freedom. It would
not have been safe for any one to exhibit any disagrec-
ment with the popular fecling ; a rcport was spread that
Scott and Robinson were still in the City; the appren-
tices made it their business to search every coach in
quest of them; in one they found the two chaplains,
Gumble and Price, who had just left the General ; be-
lieving them to be the commissioners of the Parliament,
they pelted them with mud, shouting : “ Here they are!”
and they would have been still more seriously maltreated,
if the mistake had not been speedily discovercd. Ashley
Cooper and Colonel Popham incurred a similar danger ;
having becn arrested and recognized as members of the
Parliament, the mob surrounded their carriage with cries
of “Down with the Rump!” Sir Anthony looked out,
and said to them, smiling, “ What, gentlemen, not one
good piece in a rump ?” The people laughed, and al-
lowed them to pass unmolested. This ferment continued
all night, and the mob, growing more and more excited,
manifested some disposition, on the following day, to go
and expel the Speaker from his chair, and the Parliament
from its hall. But Monk, warned in time of this tendency,
took vigorous measures to repress any such proceedings ;
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he had an antipathy to disorder, even when it led to vic-
tory ; and he ordered several of his soldiers to be severely
punished for acts of violence and insubordination during
these days of tumultuous joy.!

When Scott and Robinson returned to Westminster
to give an account of their mission,—when news arrived
of what was going on in the City,—the Republican Par-
linment felt itself at once stricken to the heart and trans.
ported with rage and indignation : then began those con-
tradictory resolutions, those incoherent measures, those
abrupt alternations of temerity and fear, of resistance and
concession, of futile violence and equally futile artifice,
which reveal the distress, and presage the downfall, of
governments. The discussion of the question of the con-
mand of the army was immediately resumed ; it was de-
cided? that no General-in-chief should be appointed, and
that five commissioners should be entrusted with the
government of the forces; but no time was lost in de-
claring that Monk should be one of the five ; and at the
same moment, in order to secure a majority against him
in the committec from which the House did not dare to
exclude him, Colonel Alured, his enemy, was clected to
be one of his colleagues, in opposition to Ashley Cooper,
his partisun. More than this ; it had been decided that
the presence of three members out of five should suffice
to form a quorum; Monk’s friends demanded that he

! Price’s Memoirs, p. 106; Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 349; Clarendon’s
History of the Rebellion, vol. vii. pp. 409-411; Clarendon’s State
Papers, vol. iii. p. 681; Pepys’s Diary, vol. i, pp. 26, 27; Evelyn’s
Diary, vol. i p. 335; Wingrove Cooke’s Life of Shaftesbury, vol. i. p.
226 ; Whitelocke’s Memorials, pp. 696, 697.

2 On the 11th of February, 1660.
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should be necessarily one of the three; the proposition .
was rejected. It was the object of the House to render
him a nullity, without quarrelling with him. A month’s
pay was voted to the whole army, and it was resolved
that all the arrears due to the troops which had come from
Scotland with Monk should be immediately discharged.
But these favours were illusory, for the public treasury
did not contain a fourth part of the sum required for the
purpose, and the City could no longer be resorted to for
loans. The debate on the bill for regulating future elec-
tions was brought to a conclusion; but under various
political and religious pretexts, disabilities and exclusions
were multiplied to such a degrec that almost the whole
nation was debarred from the exercise of political rights,
and the Republican faction alone invested with them.?
A proposition was even made for disfranchising all those
persons who had signed the petitions which had lately
been presented, demanding a full and free Parliament ;
and this proposition was lost by only one vote. It was
again resolved that an oath of fidelity to the Common-
wealth should be required from all Councillors of State ;
but they were dispensed from any formal abjuration of
the Stuart family and its pretensions.® Tinally, at the
very moment when the union of the whole Republican
party was more than ever necessary, and after all the
secret efforts which had been made to recover the sup-
port of Lambert, Vane, and their friends, against Monk,
an attempt was made to give Monk satisfaction by the

1 On the 13th and 14th of February, 1660.
2 On the 11th, 13th, 14th, 15th, 16th, and 18th of February, 1660.
3 On the 14th of February, 1660.
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resumption of vigorous measures against them. Those
members of the House, who, after the 18th of October,
1659, had lent their countenance to Lambert and the
Committee of Safety, were ordered to attend at the bar
of the House within seven days, in order to justify their
conduct ; Lambert himself was summoned, by a special
proclamation, to appear within three days before the
Council of State, on pain of the sequestration of his pro-
perty ;! and the Serjeant-at-Arms was commanded forth-
with to convey Sir Harry Vane to Bellcan, his country-
seat in Lincolnshire.?

Vane was preparing to leave London, when Ludlow
peaid him a visit; and the two Republicans, so diffcrent
in natural disposition, the one an imaginative Christian,
the other a logical soldier, but both equally sincere in
their convictions, indulged themselves in the melancholy
pleasure of deploring together the ruin of their common
' hopes. “Unless I am much mistaken,” said Vane,
“Monk has yet several masks to pull off. For what
concerns mysclf, I have all possible satisfaction of mind
as to those actions which God has enabled me to do for
the Commonwealth ; and I hope the same God will for-
tify me in my sufferings, how sharp soever they may be,
so that T may bear a faithful and constant testimony to
His cause.” Ilis noble heart, which still had so much

! On the 13th of February, 1660.

3 Commons’ Journals, vol. vii. pp. 841, 842, 843, 844, 845, 846 ; Old
Parliamentary History, vol. xxii. pp. 103-131 ; Ludlow's Memoirs, p.
349 ; Prico’s Memoirs, p. 107 ; Skinner’s Lifc of Monk, pp. 230-233;
Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 682 ; Wingrove Cooke's Life of
Shaftesbury, vol. i. p. 227 ; Harleian Tracts, vol. v. pp. 69-74 ; White-
locke’s Memorials, p. 696.
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suffering in store for it, was already fortifying itself -
against its presentiments of martyrdom.!

At Brussels and in England, the King and the Roy-
alists followed with anxious curiosity all the incidents of
this conflict, at first carried on secretly, then noisily bla-
zoned forth, and always conducted with hypocrisy on both
sides. Monk and his designs remained an cnigma to
them. “This day does so differ from yesterday,” wrote
Mr. Cooper to IIyde, “ nay, every day so much differs
from itself, through the strange variety and contradiction
of actions, that I know not but that what I writc now as
a probable conjecture, from the present complexion of
things, may prove a gross error before I seal up my
letter.”  Your Majesty,” wrote Mordaunt to the King,
“hears the opinion of so many concerning Monk, that
mine will prove of little satisfaction to you ; but if I hear
his character right, he is covetous, surly, and proud. If
this be his nature, he will prove malleable, there being
none of those humours, how peccant soever, but may be
rectified.” When Charles learned that Monk had fully
carried out the orders of thc House in refcrence to the
City, he fell, and all his little Court with him, into a state
of deep despondency ; all hope seemed to him to be lost ;
he saw before him nothing but perpetual exile, with all
those distresses and annoyances of which he had already
had such long experience. But on the same day, towards
evening, the Marquis of Ormonde brought to the Chan-
cellor, whose apartment was beneath that occupied by
the King, a young man named Baily, who had arrived
from London with extraordinary rapidity, and who told

! Ludlow’s Memoirs, p. 350.
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news so strange that those who heard it were tempted to
believe him drunk or mad. Buf Ormonde recognized
him as one who had formerly been an officer under him,
and he was the bearer of a few lines in the handwriting
of Sir John Stephens, a Cavalier well known to the King,
and who had been for some time & prisoner in London.
Baily was in the City at the period of Monk’s visit to
Guildhall, and had witnessed the popular enthusiasm ; he
had heard the bells ring, he had seen the bonfires ; men
had drunk the King’s health before his very eyes. He
had immecdiately taken post to Dover, where he hired a
boat that carried him to Ostend; and he brought not
merely a note from Sir John Stephens to Ormonde, but
a copy of the menacing letter which Monk had written
to the Parliament, on his return with his troops into the
City. The King, hearing of his arrival, came into Hyde’s
apartment, listcned to Baily’s narrative, questioned him
closely, and rcad Monk’s letter over and over again. It
was impossible to doubt its authenticity ; the good news
spread rapidly among the exiles, and revived their discon-
solate hearts. “ They thought all their sufferings over,”
says Hyde ; “and laid in a stock of such vast hopes, as
would have been very hard for any success to procure
satisfaction for.”?

They had still much impatience to endure, and many
disappointments to suffer. The more important the step
which Monk had taken, the more determined was he to
do nothing precipitately, and to go no further until the
propitious moment arrived, when he could act under the

! Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. pp. 681, 683 ; Clarendon’s His-
tory of the Rebellion, vol. vii. pp. 420-423.
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pressure of necessity, and with the appearance of legality.
Revolutions leave so much distrust and distaste for vio-
lent proceedings in the minds of all men of sense who
have gone through them, that they feel a repugnance to
have recourse to them themselves, even when their em-
ployment seems easy and their success assured. Perhaps
also, in his haughty taciturnity, Monk took some secret
pleasure in keeping the King and the people in suspense,
at the disposal of his judgment and will. Quietly es-
tablished in the City, at Drapers’ Hall and the house of
Alderman Walc, he remained on terms of courteous coin-
munication with the Republican Parliament, which care-
fully avoided every appearance of rupture ; as well as with
the Presbyterian and Royalist deputations which waited
on him to request, without making any further demand,
the re-admission of the secluded members and the convo-
cation of a new Parliament ; and with the secluded mem-
bers themselves, Annesley, Prynne, Hollis, Lewis, Grim-
stone, Evelyn, and others, who came to promise him that
they would act with moderation and rescrve when they
had resumed their seats. The opposite opinions and mu-
tual hostility of all these visitors causcd Monk no embar-
rassment ; by means of very obscure agents, under cir-
cumstances of great secrecy, and more especially to some
few women, of whose discreet ingenuity he had good
proof, among others, to Christina, Countess of Devon-
shire, he sometimes made known his real views; but
when he found himself in presence of public men and
acknowledged opinions, he remained imperturbably faith-
ful to his policy of silence or falsehood, without taking
the slightest heed of the surprise or incredulity of his
VOL. 1L K
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hearers. Ludlow, somewhat alarmed at Monk’s prejudice
against him, went to pay him a visit in the City. Monk
unhesitatingly repeated what he had stated to him and
Admiral Lawson a week previously : “ We must live and
die together for a Commonwealth.” "“I am informed,”
said Ludlow, “ that you are much pressed to restore the
secluded members ; who being highly enraged, will not
fail to bring all things into confusion, and will possibly
endeavour to bring in the King.” It may be,” an-
swered Monk, “that they will attempt it, but they say
they will not; but I assure you, though I bear as much
respect to Parliament as any man, yet if I should observe
a Parliament to be about such a thing, I would interrupt
them thercin.” Henry Martyn, who was on terms of
long-standing familiarity with Monk, also went to see
him, and asked him which he really intended to support,
a King or a Commonwealth? “ A Commonwealth,” re-
plied Monk; “you know as well as any man that, for
many years, I have been of opinion that the government
of this country should be in a Commonwealth.” “I am
bound to belicve your Excellency,” answered Martyn ;
“but permit me to say that you remind me of a tailor
who being sent for to make a suit of clothes, brings with
him a budget of carpenter’s tools, and being told that
such things are not at all fit for the work he has been
desired to do, answers, Oh ! it matters not! I will do
your work well enough, I warrant you.””’!

Monk probably cared little for the doubts and sar-

! Whitelocke'’s Memorials, p. 696 ; Price’s Memoirs, pp. 107-110;
Skinner’s Life of Monk, p. 234 ; Ludlow’s Memoirs, pp. 342, 852, 353;
Clarendon’s State Papers, vol. iii. p. 679.
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casms of Henry Martyn; but in spite of his assurance
and his success, he felt the difficulties of his situation in-
crease; for falsehood soon wears itself out, and it is a
hard task to deceive for any length of time. Five days
had scarcely elapsed since his entrance into the City, be-
fore he ascertained that disquietude and disunion were
gaining ground among his officers; some of them, who
were sincerely attached to the Commonwealth, began to
feel alarmed for its safety; others were anxious about
the arrears due to them, and the confiscated property
which had been conferred on them, and asked what
guarantee they were to have for the satisfaction of their
claims ; in spite of their assertions to the contrary, Hasle-
rig and his friends still continued their intrigues in the
regiments ; and the secluded members were regarded, by
the army which had been the instrument of their expul-
sion, with feelings of inveterate animosity and strong
distrust. Monk brought about some meectings betwecn
them and his officers, at his own house; the latter de-
clared that they would be glad to sce the secluded mem-
bers resume their seats, provided that they would pro-
nounce in favour of the Republican form of government,
and would pledge themselves to confirm all the sales and
grants of confiscated estates which had been effected since
their expulsion. This was more than the Royalist Pres-
byterians could or would promise. Clarges, Cloberry
and Gumble were employed by the General to mediate
between the two parties, with a view to induce them
to consent to terms of reconciliation of a less precise
and unalterable character ; but their efforts produced but
little effect. Monk then attempted a still more difficult
. K2
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plan; he assembled at his house, in presence of his most
intelligent officers, the chief of the secluded members
and the leaders of the Republican Parliament, in the
faint hope that the latter, after personal conference with
their former colleagues, would themselves consent to their
re-admission into the House. The conference began plea-
santly enough ; the secluded members declared that they
would resume their seats in the House in no spirit of re-
action or of vengeance, that they had no intention to call
in question anything that the Parliament had done during
their absence, or to disturb any one in the enjoyment of
his property or rights, and that their sole desire was to
contribute towards thc restoration of peace throughout
the nation by preparing the way for a new Parliament.
The officers scemed affected at hearing men of such great
influence speak in language so moderate ; some even of
the Republican members appeared disposed to concilia-
tion ; but some severe reflections made by Annesley with
regard to what had occurred in the Parliament since its
mautilation, caused Haslerig to rise fromn his seat in anger,
and prepare to leave the room. Monk however detained
him, saying, “ Be patient till I shall moderate Annesley,
which I know well enough how to do.” Haslerig re-
sumed his seat; Annesley continued his observations,
until Haslerig could contain himself no longer, and left
the room. Less impetuous, St. John, Hutchinson, Raw-
leigh, and a few others remained; but the conference
produced no result. While these vain attempts-at re-
conciliation were in progress, the threatened Republicans
were not inactive. The Council of State, in order to
entice Monk out of the City, without insisting any more
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on his taking the oath of abjuration of the Stuart family,
invited him to attend its meetings.! Monk replied that
he could not do so, until the House had taken measures
for removing the grievances, and com